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Board of Directors

Mr. Al-Naimi is the Chief Executive Officer of Qatar Foundation Endowment
who handles the complete responsibility for Qatar Foundation’s investment
portfolios and long-term investment policies that include Qatar Foundation
Endowment as well as the organisation’s other joint ventures and initiatives.

Mr. Rashid Fahad
Al-Naimi
Independent Member

Other current positions held by Mr. Al-Naimi include:
• Chairman of the Board of Directors for Mazaya Qatar Real Estate
Development Company, Qatar Solar Technologies and Mater Olbia Hospital.
• Managing Director of Vodafone Qatar.
• Board Member in local and international companies.

His Excellency Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad is the
Chairman of Al Misnad Company, having its roots in the
private sector since the 1950s.

H.E. Mr. Abdulla Bin
Nasser Al Misnad
Chairman

His Excellency is a prominent and active businessman in
Qatar, Founder and Chairman of Qatari Investors Group,
since it has been listed on the Qatar Stock Exchange.
In addition to his post as Chairman of Qatari Investors
Group, His Excellency currently holds the following
positions:
• Chairman, Vodafone Qatar
• Board Member, Al Khaliji Bank
His Excellency holds a BA degree in Aeronautical Science.

H.E. Sheikh Hamad Bin
Faisal Al Thani

In 2015, he was honored by the Arab Economic Forum with the “Achievement
in Leadership Award”. In his previous role as Vice President of Administration
at Qatar Foundation, Mr. Al-Naimi managed the Shared Services Organization
in Qatar Foundation that included the Finance, Human Resources, Business
Process Improvement, Information Technology, Procurement, and Support
Services Directorates. Prior to joining Qatar Foundation, Mr. Al-Naimi was the
Human Resources Manager at RasGas Company Limited.

Mr. Al-Naimi holds a Bachelor Degree of Science in Economics awarded by
Indiana, State University, USA and an MBA from Oxford University in the
United Kingdom.

Mr. Chrabieh is a former Appeals Court Presiding Judge, having held the
following judicial positions:
• Single Civil Judge in Beirut, Lebanon.
• Single Criminal Judge in Beirut, Lebanon.
• General Appeal Lawyer in Jibel Lebanon, Lebanon.
• Criminal Court President in Beqaa & Baalbek Governorates, Lebanon.
• From 2011 to 2020, he was a Lecturer in Penalty and Procedure
Laws, High Studies of Masters and PhD Laws at Kaslik University in
Lebanon.

Mr. Danny Mikhael
Chrabieh
Independent Member

Mr. Chrabieh has an LLB from the University of Hikma, Lebanon in
association with University of Latran; and a High Diploma in Law,
Judicial Studies Institute, Ministry of Justice, Lebanon.

Vice Chairman

H.E. Sheikh Hamad Bin Faisal Al Thani is
an active member of the Qatari business
community. He has held a number of
prominent positions, including the post of
Minister of Economy and Commerce of Qatar
and Vice Chairman of Qatar National Bank.

In addition to his post as Chairman and Managing Director of
Al Khaliji Bank, His Excellency currently holds the following positions:
• Vice Chairman, Qatari Investors Group.
• Board Member, Qatari Businessmen Association.
• Board Member, Qatar Insurance Company
• Board Member, Vodafone Qatar
• Board Member, Free Zone Authority
Other executive positions previously held by His Excellency include:
• Chairman, Qatar General Organization for Standard & Metrology.
• Member, Supreme Council for Economic Affairs & Investment.
• Director, Customs Department.
• A position in the Heir Apparent Office, Diwan Al Amiri.

Mr. Omar Al Hassan
Employees’ Representative

Mr. Al Hassan is currently Executive Director at QIG attached
to the CEO office.
Through his responsibilities at the holding company level,
Mr. Al Hassan has been involved in numerous sectors of the
group, including technology, manufacturing, shipping and
logistics, and car rental.

Mr. Al-Hassan joined QIG in September 2009 to hold a wideranging business development role. Mr. Al-Hassan was also
responsible for seeking growth opportunities, focusing mainly
on the company’s technology and security sectors.

Before joining QIG, Mr. Al-Hassan worked in the public sector
at the Qatari Ministry of Education and Higher Education.
Mr. Al Hassan has a Certificate in Information & Technology
from Qatar University.

His Excellency holds a BA degree in Political Science.
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Executive Management
Team

Mr. Raja Assili
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Hany Moqbel

Mr. Mohamed Matari

Legal Counsel

Chief Audit Executive

Mr. Pradeep Kumar

Mr. Toufic Farah

Executive Director
QIG Marine Services

Mr. Alex Aclimandos
Chief Financial Officer

Executive Director
QIG Technology

Mr. Akram Elamin

Mr. Samir Hamaidi

Mr. José A. Escalera

Mr. Raghesh Vijayakumar

Chief Administration Officer

Chief Business Development Officer

Director, AKCC

Director, Europcar
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Chairman’s Message
Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Profit Margin

12.8%

Revenue QAR

700.8m
Net Profit QAR

89.8m

The Board of Directors
recommends the distribution
of dividends at
QAR 0.060 per share

Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of Qatari Investors Group Board of
Directors, it is my pleasure to present our Annual
Report which highlights the financial and operational
performance of the Group as well as the progress and
accomplishments achieved so far. Moreover, the Annual
Report includes the Corporate Governance Report of
the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2020 and the
business plan during the year 2021.
As you all know, soon after the beginning of the first
quarter of the year 2020, the features of the worst
economic recession known to humankind in the
modern times as a consequence of global Covid-19
Pandemic, which strongly hit all international and
local investment sectors. As a result, we faced many
challenges to sustain the operations of the group
along with protecting our human and financial
resources, despite the conditions created by the
pandemic. We have succeeded in maintaining a decent
profit margin during this crucial period by following
policies that helped reduce expenditures, wages
and fixed production costs to the lowest possible
extent while utilizing our reserves of raw materials
and resources to lower the consumption of energy
sources. Nevertheless, we have been able to realize the
maximum social distancing possible while meeting the
precautionary measures enforced by the State.
During 2020, the Group achieved revenue of 700,799,087
Qatari Riyals and a net profit of 89,835,580 Qatari
Riyals resulting in a solid profit margin of 12.8%.
Before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
were deducted, the company achieved a profit of
229.6 million Qatari Riyals. Our operating activities
generated cash liquidity amounting to 448 million
Qatari Riyals and total assets reached 4,713 billion
Qatari Riyals on December 31, 2020. Like most of the
construction related sectors in the State of Qatar, the
industrial sector has not been immune to the difficult
trading conditions witnessed by such sectors in 2020.

Consequently, the industrial sector of the company
achieved a gross margin of 23%. Technology and IT
sectors revenues decreased by 31%.
As we believe that good corporate governance
is a value-adding factor, we have formed a
Corporate Governance Committee and mandated
it to conduct a comprehensive evaluation at the
group level to identify any potential gaps and
provide recommendations. The Committee will
remain active to ensure that the standards we
are expected to adhere to are maintained. We are
in compliance with both the results of the Group
governance, conducted by the company’s Auditors,
and internal controls over the financial reporting.
The results of the group have been included in the
audited financial statements and the corresponding
disclosures. The group seeks to achieve a balance
to be able to finance its growth and strategy while
maintaining essential liquidity levels. Accordingly,
the Board of Directors recommends the distribution
of dividends at QR 0.060 per share.
We aim during the coming period, especially in
the year 2021 to work on further development
and strive to achieve customer satisfaction and
build the trust of investors and shareholders. The
belief of the senior executive management in the
capabilities of the group and its human potential
is what provides us with the energy and positivity
necessary to reach the best levels of success and
overcome difficulties and challenges for the Group
to realize its plans.
In conclusion, I would like to thank you for your
valuable trust in Qatari Investors Group.

Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Brief

QIG Profile

QIG is a diversified conglomerate listed on the Qatar Stock Exchange. The
group owns and operates several subsidiaries in diverse sectors. Historically,
the group’s focus has been on B2B operations.
QIG’s subsidiaries are a mix of organically grown enterprises and
international partnerships. Our brands have an established presence and
a record of accomplishment in the Qatari market, serving flagship projects,
customers and facilities in the private and public sectors.
Through our subsidiaries, we add sustainable value to our shareholders
with prudent management, diversification and agility. For our customers and
partners, we work tirelessly to maintain trust, satisfaction and reliability.
Our activities drive the long-term growth and development of our
subsidiaries while fresh opportunities in Qatar and overseas are sought.
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Qatari Investors Group
QIG’s activities span a growing number of sectors.
Through its subsidiaries and associates, the group benefits from a
wide market footprint and in depth knowledge of multiple sectors.
QIG’s principal activities fall in the following categories.
MARINE SERVICES

INDUSTRIES

QIG Industry

QIG Technology

QIG Industry is a supplier of building materials
and services to many of Qatar’s completed and
developing iconic projects. QIG Industry operates
the group’s flagship unit, Al Khalij Cement
Company, one of two integrated cement factories
in Qatar. Al Khalij produces clinker, Ordinary
Portland Cement, Sulphate Resisting Cement and
Oil Well Cement. In addition, QIG Industry has
shareholdings in companies that offer formwork
and scaffolding systems, fabrication of structural
steel products, water and chemical tanks and road
safety barriers.

QIG Technology specializes in integrated security
systems, detection, life safety and other
innovative digital systems. Through a wide
network of international partners and a highly
skilled and qualified local workforce, QIG
Technology installs and services equipment, and
provides turnkey solutions from the design phase
all the way to operations and maintenance. QIG
Technology holds ISO 9001, 14001 and 45001
certifications.

QIG Marine Services
QIG Marine Services provides bespoke, complete
and integrated shipping and logistics solutions.
The combination of its local network coverage
with its global reach results in a unique ability to
deliver unmatched services to meet the
ever-changing expectations of the market.
QIG Marine operates First Shipping Agency, Al
Masseya Shipping Agency, United Shipping Agency
and United Logistics. QIG Marine also has joint
ventures with Mediterranean Shipping Company
(MSC) Cargo, Medlog for logistics, and an agency
agreement with MSC Cruises.

QIG Property
QIG Property develops, owns and manages a
portfolio of prime commercial and residential real
estate in Doha and its surrounding areas. The
portfolio includes a commercial tower with over
26,000m2 of rentable office and retail space,
several residential units in upscale areas, and
land holdings earmarked for future development.

QIG Projects Development
QIG Projects Development serves as the group’s
incubator and developer of newly integrated
businesses. QIG Projects’ mission is to spearhead
the group’s diversification efforts and leverage its
strengths in the identification of new
opportunities, their development and smooth
integration into the corporate structure. QIG
Projects operates the Europcar franchise in Qatar,
among other ventures.
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Assurance Reports

Independent Assurance Report to the Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C
in connection with compliance to the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s Law and
relevant legislations, including the Governance Code for Companies and Legal Entities
Listed on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s (QFMA’s)
Board pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016 as of 31 December 2020

To the
Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C
Doha – State of Qatar
In accordance with the requirements of Article 24 of
the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities
Listed on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial
Markets Authority (QFMA) Board pursuant to Decision
No. (5) of 2016, we have carried out a limited assurance
engagement over Board of Directors’ assessment of
compliance of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C referred as the
“Company” with the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations,
including the Governance Code for Companies and Legal
Entities Listed on the Main Market (the “Code”) as of
31 December 2020 as noted in the Board of Director’s
Corporate Governance Report (Corporate Governance
Report), excluding provisions listed under Other
information section of this report
Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with
governance
The Board of Directors of the Company are responsible for
preparing the accompanying Corporate Governance Report
that covers at a minimum the requirements of Article 4 of
the Code.
The Board of Directors are also responsible for ensuring the
Company’s compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant
legislations and the Governance Code for Companies &
Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market issued by the
QFMA’s Board pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016 and
preparing the, ‘Report on compliance with the QFMA’s law
and relevant legislations, including the Code’, as set out
in sections 1 to 11 and 13 of the Corporate Governance
Report.
Responsibilities of the Assurance Practitioner
Our responsibilities are to issue a limited assurance
conclusion on whether anything has come to our attention
that causes us to believe that the “Board of Directors’
Governance Report on compliance with the QFMA’s law
and relevant legislations, including the Code” presented in
sections 1 to 11 and 13 do not present fairly, in all material
respects, the Company’s compliance with the QFMA’s law
and relevant legislations, including the Code, based on our
limited assurance procedures.

Reporting on compliance with QFMA’s law and relevant
legislations, including the Code
We conducted our engagement in accordance with
International Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board (‘IAASB’). This standard requires that we plan and
perform our procedures to obtain limited assurance about
whether anything has come to our attention that causes
us to believe that the Board of Directors’ statement of
compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations,
including the Code, taken as a whole, is not prepared in all
material respects, in accordance with the QFMA’s law and
relevant legislations, including the Code.
The procedures performed in a limited assurance
engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are less
in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement.
Consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a
limited assurance engagement is substantially lower
than the assurance that would have been obtained had a
reasonable assurance engagement been performed. We did
not perform procedures to identify additional procedures
that would have been performed if this were a reasonable
assurance engagement.
A limited assurance engagement involves assessing the
risks of material misstatement of the Board of Directors’
statement of compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant
legislations, including the Code, whether due to fraud or
error and responding to the assessed risks as necessary
in the circumstances. A limited assurance engagement is
substantially less in scope than a reasonable assurance
engagement in relation to both the risk assessment
procedures, including an understanding of internal control,
and the procedures performed in response to the assessed
risks.
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Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance
opinion about whether the Board of Directors’ statement of
compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations,
including the Code, taken as a whole has been prepared,
in all material respects, in accordance with the ’s law and
relevant legislations, including the Code.
The procedures we performed were based on our
professional judgment and included inquiries, observation
of processes performed, inspection of documents,
evaluating the appropriateness of reporting policies of the
Company, and agreeing with underlying records.
Given the circumstances of the engagement, in performing
the procedures listed above we:
–

made inquiries of management to obtain an
understanding of the processes followed to identify
the requirements of the QFMA law and relevant
legislations, including the Code (the ‘Requirements’);
the procedures adopted by management to comply
with these Requirements and the methodology
adopted by management to assess compliance with
these Requirements. This included analysing the key
processes and controls for reporting compliance with
the Requirements;

–

considered the disclosures by comparing the contents
of the Corporate Governance Report against the
requirements of Article 4 of the Code;

–

agreed the relevant contents of the Corporate
Governance Report to the underlying records
maintained by the legal and compliance department of
the Company;

–

performed limited substantive testing on a selective
basis, when deemed necessary, to assess compliance
with the Requirements, and observed evidences
gathered by the Company’s management and assessed
whether violations of the Requirements, if any,
have been disclosed by the Board of Directors, in all
material respects.

Our limited assurance procedures do not involve
assessing the qualitative aspects or effectiveness of the
procedures adopted by management to comply with the
Requirements. Therefore, we do not provide any assurance
as to whether the procedures adopted by management
were functioning effectively to achieve the objectives of
the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, including the
Code.

Our independence and quality control
In carrying out our work, we have complied with the
independence and other ethical requirements of the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants,
which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due care,
confidentiality and professional behaviour and the ethical
requirements that are relevant in Qatar. We have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the (IESBA) Code.
Our firm applies International Standard on Quality
Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive
system of quality control including documented policies
and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal
and regulatory requirements.
Inherent limitations
Many of the procedures followed by entities to adopt
governance and legal requirements depend on the
personnel applying the procedure, their interpretation
of the objective of such procedure, their assessment of
whether the compliance procedure was implemented
effectively, and in certain cases would not maintain audit
trail. It is also noticeable that the design of compliance
procedures would follow best practices that vary from one
entity to another and from one country to another, which
do not form a clear set of criteria to compare with.

In connection with our assurance engagement on the
applicable sections of the Corporate Governance Report,
our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the
Corporate Governance report or our knowledge obtained
in the engagement, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
When we read, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to those charged with governance and the QFMA.
If, based on the work we have performed, on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
When we read the complete Corporate Governance Report,
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
those charged with governance and the QFMA.

Conclusion
Based on our limited assurance procedures described
in this report, nothing has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that the Board of Directors’ report
on compliance with QFMA’s law and relevant legislations,
including the Code, as presented in Board of Director’s
Corporate Governance Report, do not present fairly, in all
material respects, the Company’s compliance with the
QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, including the Code as
at 31 December 2020.
Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to the fact that this assurance report
relates to parent company Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C
on stand-alone basis only and not the Group as a whole.
Our conclusion is not modified in this respect.

Rödl & Partner – Qatar Branch
Certified Public Accountants
Doha – Qatar
February 1, 2021

Magdy Aboelkhier
Member of Qatar Association of
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 321
QFMA Auditor License No. 120151

Non-financial performance information is subject to more
inherent limitations than financial information, given the
characteristics of the Governance Report and the methods
used for determining such information.
Other information
The Board of Directors are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
Corporate Governance Report (but does not include the
Directors’ Report on compliance with QFMA’s law and
relevant legislations including the Code’ presented in
Sections 1 to 11 and 13 (the “Directors’ Statement”) which
we obtained prior to the date of this assurance report.
Our conclusion on the Board of Director’s Corporate
Governance Report on compliance with applicable QFMA
laws and relevant legislations including the Code does not
cover the other information and we do not, and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Assurance Report to the Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C
on the suitability of the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
internal controls over financial reporting of significant processes as of 31 December
2020 in connection with the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities Listed
on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s (QFMA’s) Board
pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016

To the
Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C.
Doha – State of Qatar
Report on the Directors’ assessment of the suitability of
the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of internal controls over financial reporting of significant
processes as of 31 December 2020 of Qatari Investors
Group Q.P.S.C hereinafter referred to as the “ Company”
and its subsidiaries together referred as the “Group” in
connection with the Governance Code for Companies
& Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market Issued by
the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s (QFMA’s) Board
pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016.
In accordance with the requirements of Article 24 of the
Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities Listed
on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial Markets
Authority (QFMA) Board pursuant to Decision No. (5)
of 2016, we have carried out a reasonable assurance
engagement over the Management’s Internal Control
Statement on assessment of suitability of the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of the Group’s
internal controls over financial reporting (Management
Internal Control Statement) as of 31 December 2020, based
on the framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission “COSO
framework”.
Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with
governance
The Board of Directors are responsible for implementing
and maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate policies, and making accounting estimates and
judgements that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Group’s assessment of its internal control system is
presented by the Management to the Board of Directors in
the form of the Management’s Internal Control Statement
contained in Section 1 of the Corporate Governance Report,
which includes:
–

the management’s assessment of the suitability of
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
internal control framework over financial reporting;

–

the description of the process and internal controls
over financial reporting for the Significant Process
of (general IT and application controls, entity
level controls, revenues, receivables, inventory
management, fixed assets, treasury and cash
management, investment management, payroll,
financial reporting and periodic closing of the financial
records);

–

the control objectives; including identifying the
risks that threaten the achievement of the control
objectives;

–

designing and implementing controls to achieve the
stated control objectives; and

–

identification of control gaps and failures; how they
are remediated; and procedures set to prevent such
failures or to close control gaps.

The Group has assessed the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of its internal control system as at
December 31, 2020, based on the criteria established in the
Internal Control- Integrated Framework 2013 issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO framework”). These responsibilities
include the design adequate internal financial controls
that would ensure the orderly and efficient conduct of its
business, including:

–

adherence to the Group’s policies;

–

the safeguarding of its assets;

–

the prevention and detection of frauds and errors;

–

the accuracy and completeness of the accounting
records;

–

the timely preparation of reliable financial information;
and

–

compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
including the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations and
the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities
Listed on the Main Market issued by the QFMA’s Board
pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016.

Responsibilities of the Assurance Practitioner
Express a reasonable assurance opinion on the fairness
of the presentation of Management’s Internal Control
Statement, based on the criteria established in COSO
Framework, including its conclusion on the effectiveness
of design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of the Group’s internal controls over financial reporting
of “Significant Processes” presented in Section 1 of the
Corporate Governance Report to achieve the related
control objectives stated in that description based on our
assurance procedures.
Reporting on internal controls over financial reporting
We conducted our engagement in accordance with
International Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board (‘IAASB’). This standard requires that we plan and
perform our procedures to obtain reasonable assurance
on the Management’s Internal Control Statement over
assessment of suitability of the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls
over financial reporting of significant processes of( general
IT and application controls, entity level controls, revenues,
receivables, inventory management, fixed assets, treasury
and cash management, investment management, payroll,
financial reporting and periodic closing of the financial
records) in all material respects, to achieve the related
control objectives stated in the description of the relevant
processes by management, based on the COSO framework.
A process is considered significant if a misstatement due
to fraud or error in the stream of transactions or financial
statement amount would reasonably be expected to
impact the decisions of the users of financial statements.
For the purpose of this engagement, the processes that
were determined as significant are: (revenues, receivables,
inventory management, fixed assets, treasury and cash
management, investment management, payroll, financial
reporting and periodic closing of the financial records).

An assurance engagement of this type also includes
evaluating Board of Directors’ assessment of the suitability
of the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of the controls in an organization involves performing
procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of
design and operating effectiveness of the controls. Our
procedures on internal controls over financial reporting
included:
–

obtaining an understanding of internal controls over
financial reporting for significant processes;

–

assessing the risk that a material weakness exists; and

–

testing and evaluating the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk.

In carrying out our engagement, we obtained
understanding of the following components of the control
system:
1. Control Environment
2. Risk Assessment
3. Control Activities
4. Information and Communication
5. Monitoring
The procedures selected depend on our judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the suitability of design and operating
effectiveness, whether due to fraud or error. Our
procedures also included assessing the risks that the
controls were not suitably designed or operating effectively
to achieve the related control objectives stated in the
Corporate Governance Report. Our procedures included
testing the operating effectiveness of those controls that
we consider necessary to provide reasonable assurance
that the related control objectives stated in Section 1 of
the Corporate Governance Report were achieved.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
conclusion on the Management’s Internal Control
Statement over their assessment of the suitability of
design and operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls over financial reporting.
Our independence and quality control:
In carrying out our work, we have complied with the
independence and other ethical requirements of the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants,
which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due care,
confidentiality and professional behaviour and the ethical
requirements that are relevant in Qatar. We have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the (IESBA) Code.
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Our firm applies International Standard on Quality
Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive
system of quality control including documented policies
and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal
and regulatory requirements.
Meaning of internal controls over financial reporting
An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards. An entity’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
entity;
2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards, and that
receipts and expenditures of the entity are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of the
management of the entity; and

Inherent limitations
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial
controls over financial reporting and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls,
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected. Therefore, internal controls over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect all errors
or omissions in processing or reporting transactions and
consequently cannot provide absolute assurance that the
control objectives will be met. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
the internal financial control over financial reporting may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.
Furthermore, the controls activities designed, implemented
and operated as of 31 December 2020 covered by our
assurance report will not have retrospectively remedied
any weaknesses or deficiencies that existed in relation
to the internal controls over the financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations prior to
the date those controls were placed in operation.

Other information
The Board of Directors are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
Corporate Governance Report but, does not include
Management’s Internal Control Statement.
Our conclusion on the Management’s Internal Control
Statement does not cover the other information and we do
not, and will not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
If, based on the work we have performed, on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
When we read the complete Corporate Governance Report,
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
those charged with governance and the QFMA.
Emphasis of matter
The effectiveness testing of internal control framework
over financial reporting was performed by the resource of
the finance departments of the Group and hence we were
not satisfied with its independence.

Opinion
In our opinion the Management’s Internal Control
Statement, is fairly stated, in all material respects except
for the matters discussed under emphasis of matter
paragraph above, based on the criteria established in
the COSO Framework, including its conclusion on the
effectiveness of design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s Internal Controls Over
Financial Reporting as at 31 December 2020.
Rödl & Partner – Qatar Branch
Certified Public Accountants
Doha – Qatar
February 1, 2021

Magdy Aboelkhier
Member of Qatar Association of
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 321
QFMA Auditor License No. 120151

3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the entity’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements
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Corporate
Governance Report

In accordance with the requirements of Article 4 of the Governance Code for
Companies & Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market issued by the Qatar Financial
Markets Authority (“QFMA”) Board, and pursuant to its Decision No. (5) Of 2016 (the
“Code”), the Board of Directors of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C (the “Company” or
“QIG”) prepared the following Corporate Governance Report for 2020.

1. MANAGEMENT REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH QFMA LAW
AND RELEVANT LEGISLATIONS INCLUDING THE CODE.
This report is the outcome of QIG’s continuous
commitment towards the implementation of sound
governance through best practices. The measures
described below, we believe, not only fulfil QIG’s
compliance with the Code but also reflect QIG’s
responsibilities towards its shareholders and
stakeholders.

Qatari Investors Group’s Corporate
Governance Report sets out
the company’s commitment to
good corporate governance and
describes what has been achieved
during the year.

Responsibilities of the Board
The Board of Directors is committed to implementing
governance principles set out in the Code, including
but not limited to Justice and equality among
Shareholders and Stakeholders without discrimination
regardless of their race, gender and religion.
Transparent information and required disclosures are
provided to the QFMA, Shareholders and Stakeholders
within the required timeframe and in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. The principles
also include upholding the values of corporate social
responsibility and prevailing the public interest of
the Company, Shareholders and Stakeholders over
any personal interest. The Company is guided by the
aforementioned principles, as it endeavors to exercise
its duties diligently and with integrity. In parallel, the
Company also strives to project these values in its
dealings with Shareholders, Stakeholders and society.
Management’s assessment on compliance with
QFMA’s relevant regulations including the Corporate
Governance Code as at December 31, 2020.
In accordance with Article 2 of the Code, we have
undertaken an assessment on compliance with the
QFMA’s relevant regulations applicable to the Company.
Conclusion
As a result of the assessment, management concluded
that processes are in place to comply with the QFMA’s
requirements as of December 31, 2020.
External auditors
Rödl and Partner – Qatar Branch, the external audit
firm of the Company, will issue a limited assurance
report on the management’s assessment of compliance
with the QFMA’s relevant regulations including the
Code as of December 31, 2020.

2. MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING
In accordance with the Code, the Board of Directors
of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting (“ICOFR”).
Our ICOFR is a process designed under the supervision
of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for external reporting purposes in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
ICOFR includes our disclosure controls and procedures
designed to prevent misstatements.
In order to ensure the reliability of the Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting at all times, management
is required to evaluate the effectiveness of those
controls on a periodic basis and to include a report
of such evaluation in the annual report, attested by
the company’s external auditors. If, in the course of
the evaluation, management discovers any deficiency
in the design or operation of Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting that could adversely affect a
company’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data consistent with the assertions of
management in the company’s financial statements,
then management must disclose this material
weakness in its report.
To determine whether a material weakness in
ICOFR exist as at 31 December 2020, we conducted
an evaluation of the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of ICOFR, based on the
framework and the criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework (2013), issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”).
We covered all the material business and operating
companies in our assessment of ICOFR as of December
31, 2020.
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Risks in Financial Reporting
The main risks in financial reporting are that financial
statements do not present a true and fair view due
to inadvertent inaccuracies, intentional errors (fraud),
or, the delayed publication of financial statements.
These risks may reduce investor confidence or
cause reputational damage and may have adverse
consequences. A lack of fair presentation arises
when one or more amounts in financial statement or
disclosures contain misstatements or omissions that
are material. Misstatements are deemed material
if they could, individually or collectively, influence
economic decisions that user’s make on the basis of
the financial statements.
To confine those risks of financial reporting, the
Company has established ICOFR based on the
framework established in Internal Control Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). COSO recommends the establishment of
specific objectives to facilitate the design and evaluate
the adequacy of a control system.
The COSO Framework includes 17 basic principles, and
5 components:
1. Control environment
2. Risk assessment
3. Control activities
4. Information and communication
5. Monitoring
Controls covering each of the 17 principles and 5
components have been identified and documented
across QIG
In establishing ICOFR, management has adopted the
following financial statement objectives:
• Existence/Occurrence – assets and liabilities exist
and transactions have occurred.
• Completeness - all transactions are recorded;
account balances are included in the financial
statements.
• Valuation / Measurement - assets, liabilities and
transactions are recorded in the financial reports at
the appropriate amounts.
• Rights and Obligations and ownership - rights and
obligations are appropriately recorded as assets and
liabilities.
• Presentation and disclosures - classification,
disclosure and presentation of financial reporting is
appropriate.
However, any internal control system, including ICOFR,
no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, but not absolute assurance
that the objectives of that control system are met.
Therefore, disclosure controls and procedures or
systems for ICOFR may not prevent all errors and fraud.

Furthermore, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to
their costs and weighing down organisational efficiency
and performance.
Organization of the Internal Control System
Functions Involved in the System of Internal Control
over Financial Reporting
Controls within the system of ICOFR are performed
across business functions, including an involvement
in reviewing the reliability of records that underpin
financial statements. As a result, the operation
of ICOFR involves staff in various functions across
organizations.
The processes that were deemed significant are: IT,
revenue controls, entity level controls, receivables
and inventory management, tracking of fixed
assets, treasury and cash management, investment
management, payroll, financial reporting and the
periodic closing of financial records.
In determining the above processes, management
exercised professional judgement and considered the
materiality of balances and number of transactions,
that, if materially misstated, would influence economic
decisions users might make based on financial
statements.
Controls to Minimize the Risk of Financial Reporting
Misstatement
The system of ICOFR consists of a large number of
internal controls and procedures aimed at minimizing
the risk of misstatement of the financial statements.
Such controls are integrated into operating processes
and include those which:
• Are ongoing or permanent in nature such as
supervision within written policies and procedures
or segregation of duties,
• Operate on a periodic basis, such as those
performed as part of the annual financial statement
preparation process,
• Are preventative or detective in nature,
• Have a direct or indirect impact on the financial
statements themselves. Controls which have an
indirect effect on financial statements include
entity level controls and IT general controls such as
system access and deployment controls whereas a
control with a direct impact could be, for example,
a reconciliation which directly supports a balance
sheet line item,
• Feature automated and/or manual components.
Automated controls are control functions embedded
within system processes such as applicationenforced segregation of duty controls and interface
checks over the completeness and accuracy of
inputs. Manual internal controls are those operated
by an individual or group of individuals such as
authorization of transactions.

Measuring Design and Operating Effectiveness of
Internal Control
The Group has undertaken a formal evaluation of the
adequacy of the design of the system of ICOFR. This
evaluation incorporates an assessment of the design of
the control environment as well as individual controls,
which make up the system of ICOFR taking into
account:
• The risk of misstatement of financial statement
line items, considering such factors as materiality
and the susceptibility of the particular financial
statement item to misstatement.
• The susceptibility of identified controls to
failure, considering such factors as the degree of
automation, complexity, and risk of management
override, competence of personnel and the level of
judgment required.
These factors, in aggregate, determine the nature
and extent of evidence that management requires in
order to be able to assess whether or not the design
of the system of ICOFR is effective. The evidence
itself is generated from procedures integrated within
the daily responsibilities of staff or from procedures

Raja Assili
Chief Executive Officer

implemented specifically for purposes of the ICOFR
evaluation. Information from other sources also form
an important component of the evaluation since such
evidence either may bring additional control issues
to the attention of management or may corroborate
findings.
Conclusion
Management is of the opinion that as a result of the
Design, Implementation and Operating Effectiveness
testing performed and remedial actions taken, that
there are no significant deficiencies in ICOFR that could
have resulted in material weaknesses in ICOFR and
that ICOFR is appropriately designed, implemented and
operating effectively as of December 31, 2020.
External Auditors
Rodl & Partner – Qatar branch external auditors of the
Group, will issue a reasonable assurance report on
management’s assessment of the design of internal
controls over financial reporting as of 31 December
2020 in accordance with International Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information’ issues by the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘IAASB’).

Hany Moqbel
Legal Counsel

Alex Aclimandos
Chief Financial Officer

Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad
H.E Chairman of the Board
3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
QIG Corporate Governance covers all the topics, which
are necessary to ensure that the divisions of roles
between the Board and the Company’s administration
are regulated in a way that strengthens confidence
among shareholders, employees, capital markets and
any other related parties in order to achieve control
and compliance, safeguarding shareholders’ rights and
sustainable value creation over time.
During the year, QIG strengthened its corporate
governance framework in compliance with the
requirements of governance rules set by QFMA
through:
1. Updating and development of governance policies
and procedures guides.
2. Assessment and strengthening of the Board’s
committees.
3. Implementation of best practices
4. Enhancement of internal control frame work over
financial reporting
It is worth mentioning that when it comes to imposing
high corporate governance standards, the Company
always aims at more heightened than the minimum
requirements set by the authorities. Accordingly,

the Company understands that such standards shall
be implemented to build up confidence among its
shareholders and stakeholders. Therefore, in order to
continue being fully abode by the local authorities’
requirements, the Company implemented a procedure
whereby Executive Management and Board Members
had to disclose whether or not they or their respective
family members (as defined by the QFMA’s code and
Company’s policies) held any shares in the Company
during the year 2020. They also had to sign an
undertaking form declaring that if they had access to
any unpublished and sensitive information that may
affect or alter the value of the Company’s share, they
should immediately inform the Company’s Corporate
Governance Committee and the Company’s secretary.
They had to declare that they had not contravened any
provision of QFMA’s Corporate Governance Code or the
Company’s internal policies, including but not limited
to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy. Otherwise, in
the event of a violation of any provision or any related
law, regulations, or decisions issued by the concerned
authorities, they will be subject to the relevant
sanctions imposed by QFMA, and they will have to
indemnify and keep the Company indemnified against
all and any penalties/fines that may be charged by the
concerned Qatari public authorities.
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4. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
4.1 Role and Responsibilities of the Board
		
The primary role of the Board of Directors is to
provide leadership to the Company, within a
framework of prudent and effective controls,
enabling risk to be assessed and managed.
This role is guided by the Articles of Association
of the Company and its relevant by-laws, the
Commercial Companies Law No. (11) For 2015 and
QFMA Corporate Governance Code for Companies
in particular articles (8) and (9).

		

• drafting the Company governance code which
sets the general governance principles followed
by the Company;

		

• setting forth specific and explicit standards and
procedures related to the board membership;

		

• developing a Stakeholders policy;

		

• setting policies and procedures to ensure
the Company’s compliance with the
laws and regulations and especially the
required disclosure to the Shareholders and
Stakeholders;

		

The responsibilities of the Board include, but are
not limited to the following:

		

• inviting all Shareholders to attend the general
assembly meeting;

		

• Approving the Company’s strategic plan and its
main objectives;

		

• approving the nominations or appointment of
the Executive Management;

		

• adopting a succession planning policy
concerning Executive Management;

			 – setting the Company’s comprehensive
strategy, key business plans and risk
management policy;
			 – determining the Company’s most appropriate
capital structure, its strategies and financial
objectives and approving its annual budgets;
			 – supervising the Company’s main capital
expenses, acquisition and assets disposal;

		

• setting a remuneration policy that defines
the basis and methodology for granting
remuneration to the Board Members, the
Executive Management and the Company’s
Member;

		

• developing a Related Parties policy and
presenting it to the general assembly in order
to obtain the Shareholders’ approval; and,

		

• setting criteria and standards in order to
evaluate the Board Members and Executive
Management performance;

		

For more information, please refer to the QIG’s
Board Charter, published on the Company’s
website.

			 – setting the Company performance objectives
and monitoring their implementation;
			 – reviewing and approving the Company’s
organizational structures on periodic basis;
			 – approving the procedure manuals needed
to implement the Company strategy and
objectives;
			 – approving the Company’s annual training
plan programs;
		

• setting the Company’s rules and procedures
related to internal controls which include as
follows:

			 – developing a policy to regulate conflict of
interest and remedy any possible cases of
conflict by the Board Members, the Executive
Management Stakeholders and Shareholders;
			 – developing a full disclosure system in order
to achieve transparency and to prevent
conflict of interest and using Insider
Information;

4.2 Board Members Composition
		
Based on the Company’s Board Charter and
in compliance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, at least one third among all Board
Members shall be independent and majority of
the Board Members shall be non-executive. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board
comprised of 5 members, of which, 2 members
are independent and majority of the Board
Members are non-executive.
		

The Board members are appointed for a
renewable term of three years.

The table below shows the current composition of the QIG Board of Directors as of 31 December 2019:
Director Name

Position

% of Direct
Ownership

Date of
Election/
Appointment

% of
Indirect
Ownership

Representing

Member
Classification

Board
Term

Board
Expiry
Term

Other Board
Membership
Held in Listed
Companies

No. of shares
held (directly
& indirectly)

H.E. Mr.
Abdulla Nasser
Al Misnad

Chairman

0.08%

26/02/2020

3.8%

in his
personal
capacity

Executive

3 years

2022

Vodafone Qatar
Al-Khaliji bank

48,200,000

H.E. Sheikh
Hamad Bin
Faisal Al Thani

ViceChairman

0%

26/02/2020

0.70%

Qatari
Trading
Agencies
Company

Non-Executive

3 years

2022

Vodafone Qatar
Al-Khaliji bank
Qatar
Insurance
Company

8,578,630

Mr. Rashid
Fahad Al
Noaimi

Member

0%

26/07/2020

0%

N/A

Independent

3 years

2022

Vodafone Qatar
Mazaya Qatar

None

Mr. Dany
Mikhael
Chrabieh

Member

0%

26/07/2020

0%

N/A

Independent

3 years

2022

None

None

Mr. Omar Saleh
Al Hassan

Member

0%

26/07/2020

0%

N/A

Representative
of the
company’s
employees

3 years

2022

None

None

Other Board Memberships Held in Listed Companies
Director Name

Company

Date of Election
Appointment

Position

Member
Classification

Number of Shares
Held Directly or
Indirectly

Party represented

H.E. Mr. Abdulla
Nasser Al Misnad

Vodafone Qatar
P.Q.S.C

Joined Vodafone
Qatar Board in 2016
and re-elected on 4
March 2019

Chairman

Non-Executive,
Independent

None

All Shareholders

Al Khaliji bank

Joined Al Khaliji
Board in 2007 and
re-elected on 27
February 2018

Member

Non-Executive,
Non-Independent

1,056,400

Own Companies or
Family Members

Al Khaliji bank

Joined Al Khaliji
Board in 2009 and
re-appointed on 27
February 2018

Chairman and
Managing Director

Executive

108,800

QIA/QATAR Holding
LLC

Vodafone Qatar
P.Q.S.C

Joined Vodafone
Qatar Board since
2018 and re-elected
on 4 March 2019

Member

Non-Executive,
independent

None

All Shareholders

Qatar Insurance
Company

Joined QIC Board in
2009 and re-elected
on 25 February 2020

Member

Independent

21,445,370

In his personal
capacity

Mazaya Qatar

Joined Mazaya Qatar
Board in 2008 and
was re-appointed 27
January 2020

Chairman

Non-Independent,
Non-Executive
Chairman

None

Qatar Investment
Authority

Vodafone Qatar
P.Q.S.C.

Joined Vodafone
Qatar Board in 2008
and re-elected on 4
March 2019

Member (Managing
Director)

Executive, NonIndependent

120,000

Vodafone Qatar/
Qatar Foundation LLC

Mr. Dany Mikhael
Chrabieh

None

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Mr. Omar Saeed
Saleh Al Hassan

None

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

H.E. Sheikh Hamad
Bin Faisal Al Thani

Mr. Rashid Fahad Al
Noaimi

			 – overseeing the Company’s financial and
accounting integrity;
			 – monitoring the implementation of the
Company’s control systems appropriate for
risk management;
			 – annual review of the Company’s internal
control system effectiveness;
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4.3 Meetings of the Board of Directors
		

In accordance with Article 14 of the QFMA Code, within the year 2020, the Company held the required number of
meetings.

		

The Board meetings are structured in a way that allows open discussions and facilitates the participation of all
members.

		

All decisions are taken by the majority the attendees or their representatives, when applicable.

		

Any member who is unable to attend a particular meeting will be provided with the same information as those
present at the meeting in order to implement fair decision making process. Therefore, the Board Members may be
able to vote by proxy, if their respective agenda does not allow them to physically attend a meeting.
Board Meeting No.
85

Date of Meeting

Attendees

02/02/2020

Absentee(s)

5

None

Voting by Proxy
None

Date of Sending
the Agenda

86

27/02/2020

5

None

None

20/02/2020

19/04/2020

5

None

None

24/03/2020

88

07/06/2020

5

None

None

01/06/2020

89

28/06/2020

5

None

None

21/06/2020

90

21/07/2020

5

None

None

23/06/2020

91

27/07/2020

5

None

None

20/07/2020

92

20/09/2020

5

None

None

10/09/2020

93

19/10/2020

5

None

N0ne

22/09/2020

94

09/12/2020

5

None

None

02/12/2020

		

As required by the QFMA Code, the remuneration
of the Board Members will be disclosed during the
next Annual General Assembly Meeting.

		

QIG has established a Remuneration Policy, which
lays down the procedure and criteria to determine
the Board Members› remuneration.

4.5 Board Qualification
		
Based on the Company’s Board Charter and
in compliance with the applicable QFMA’s
Governance code, the Board is composed
of qualified experts, with a track-record of
achievement in one or more of the Company’s
business activities. Board members bring a blend
of experience based on their careers, education
and their respective experience.
4.6 Chairman of the Board
		
H.E. Abdulla Nasser Al Misnad represents the
Company in his capacity as the Chairman of the
Company.

		

The Chairman leads the Board’s meetings. The
Chairman is primarily responsible for ensuring
the proper management of the Company in
an efficient and productive manner, subject
always to the best interests of the Company, its
shareholders and Stakeholders.

		

The Chairman aims to implement transparent,
constructive and fair decision making process
within the board. At the same time H.E the
Chairman always expects high standards and
ethical requirements from the Board members.

		

The Chairman’s responsibilities are as follows:

		

• Encouraging all Board Members to participate
and engage in the Company’s affairs while
ensuring that the Board is working in
accordance with the Company’s best interests.

		

• Making available for Board Members relevant
data, information, documents and records of
the Company and its committees.

		

		

• Ensuring that there is an appropriate
delegation of authority from the Board to the
Executive Management.

		

• Keeping the Board Members regularly informed
about the implementation of this Code, or
alternatively, The Chairman may empower the
Audit Committee and/or any other committees
to do so.

		

• Approving applicable statements, data or
information prepared by the Board or the
Executive Management prior to their disclosure.

		

In line with the article 12(8) of QFMA Governance
Code and as per the Company disclosure policy
article 4.1 (a.2), H.E. The Chairman of the Board is
the Company spokesperson.

16/01/2020

87

4.4 Remuneration of the Board
		
The remuneration allocated to the Board Members
does not exceed five percent (5%) of the
Company’s net profit, in accordance with Article
46 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Article
119 of the Companies Law and Article 18 of the
QFMA Code.

		

• Creating effective communication channels with
Shareholders and making their opinions heard
to the Board.
• Allowing effective participation of the NonExecutive Board Members and promoting
constructive relations between Executive and
Non- Executive Board Members;

4.7 Secretary of the Board
		
The Company’s Board Secretary plays an
important role in supporting the effectiveness
of the Board and facilitating communication and
coordination among its committees.
		

The Board Secretary assists the Board of Directors
in fulfilling their obligations and responsibilities.

		

The Board Secretary also facilitates the
communication between the Board Members and
the Executive Management.

		

Mr. Hany Moqbel is the Secretary of the Board, a
position he has held since June 2016. He is also
the Legal Counsel of the Company.

		

As required by QFMA Code, the Board Secretary
keeps a record of Directors’ declarations of
positions held in other companies. This is
done to ensure that the Board members do not
contravene the relevant rules pertaining to the
prohibition of combining certain positions. He
also keeps records of the Board Member›s written
annual non-conflict of interest declaration as well
as Disclosure and Undertaking forms related to
the holding of securities in the Company. Such
documents permit to track and know who, among
the Board Members and Executive Members,
holds shares in the Company. This procedure has
been implemented to ensure transparency and
prohibit any conflict of interests/insider trading
situations.

		

A Board Secretary Terms of Reference has been
implemented in order to comply with the QFMA
Code and other regulatory requirements.

4.8 Prohibition of Combining Positions
		
The Company ensures that the Chairman and the
rest of the Board Members are in compliance with
article 7 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code
and its exceptions.

		

The Company also ensures compliance with
the requirements related to the prohibition of
combining the Chairman’s position with any other
executive positions in the Company. Moreover,
QIG’s Chairman is not a member of any Board
committees as required by the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code.

		

As stated in the Board Secretary section, the
Chairman and the Board Members, on an
annual basis, provide an acknowledgment form
confirming the non-combination of prohibited
positions.

4.9 Board Committees
		
To increase the effectiveness of the Board’s
control over the Company’s various activities and
the risks to which it is exposed independently
and professionally, the Board has established
committees, which are delegated specific
responsibilities and authorities to act on its
behalf. In line with its commitment to implement
corporate governance principles, the Board’s
committees meet the minimum requirements set
by applicable corporate governance regulations.
		

The Board has formed two Sub Committees:

		

1. Audit Committee

		

2. Remuneration and Nomination Committee

			 Each Committee has specific roles, duties and
authorities as determined by the Board and
specified under each Committee’s Terms of
Reference, approved by the Board. The Board
Committees’ Terms of Reference have been
developed taking into consideration regulatory
requirements including Articles 18 and 19 of
Governance Code. In accordance with Article 19
of QFMA Governance Code, it is not permitted
to chair more than one Board Committee
nor is it allowed to combine the chair of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee.
4.10 Audit Committee
		
The Audit Committee was established in
accordance with Article 18 of the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code. QIG’s Audit Committee is
chaired by an Independent Board Member and
consists of the majority of independent members.
		

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include, but are not limited to:

		

• Setting the procedures for assessing and
selecting the External Auditors and ensuring
their independence while performing their
duties;

		

• Overseeing the Company’s internal controls,
monitoring the External Auditors’ functions,
coordinating with the External Auditors, and
ensuring their compliance in implementing the
international standards;
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• Overseeing and reviewing the accuracy and
validity of financial statements and the yearly
and quarterly reports;

		

• Considering, reviewing and following up with
the External Auditors’ reports and notes on the
Company’s financial statements;

		

• Reviewing the financial, internal control and
risk management systems;

		

• Developing and regularly reviewing the
Company’s policies on risk management, taking
into account the Company’s business, market
changes, investment trends and expansion
plans of the Company;

		

• Implementing the assignments of the Board
regarding the Company’s internal controls;

		

• Coordinating discussions between the External
Auditor and the Executive Management
regarding risk audits;

			 especially the appropriateness of accounting
policies and estimates, and submitting them
to the Board for inclusion in the annual report;
and
		

During the last twelve months, QIG’s Audit Committee convened a total of six (6) meetings. QIG’s Audit Committee
has adopted a formal charter published and available on QIG’s website: http://www. qatariinvestors.com/English/
media-center/ reports/

		

Furthermore, during the last meeting on December, 2020, the Audit Committee also finalized its annual report and
performance review which was shared with the Board Members.
The Audit Committee is composed of the following members:
Name

Position

Board Member Type

Mr. Rashid Fahad AL Noaimi

Member of the BOD & Chairman of the
Board Audit Committee

Independent

Mr. Omar Saeed Saleh AL Hassan

Member of the BOD & NRC member

Representative of the
Company’s employees

Mr. Danny Chrabieh

Member of the BOD & Member of the
Board Audit Committee

Independent

Audit Meeting No.

Date of the Meeting

No. of the Attendees

No. of Absentees

Vote by Proxy

27/2020

28/01/2020

3

0

–

28/2020

15/04/2020

2

1

–

29/2020

19/07/2020

3

0

–

30/2020

18/10/2020

3

0

–

31/2020

30/11/2020

3

0

–

32/2020

24/12/2020

3

0

–

4.11 Nomination and Remuneration Committee
		
Pursuant to Article 19 of the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee have
been combined into one single committee.
The responsibilities of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) include, but are
not limited to:

		

		

			 a) assisting the Board in the preparation
and amendment (when required) of the
nomination policy.

		

		

• Developing a succession planning policy
and making recommendations to the Board
regarding plans for the succession of directors
and Executive Management, taking into
consideration the Company’s challenges and
opportunities, and the skills and expertise that
will be needed. This policy shall be reviewed
on a regular basis.

		

• Evaluating the performance evaluation of the
Board and its committees and subsequently
reporting to the Board.

		

In line with the fulfilment of its responsibilities,
the NRC convened twice during 2020 fiscal year.
During the first meeting, held in July 2020, the
committee approved the revised Remuneration
Policy Ver. V2_July 2020. The NRC’s second
meeting took place in December 2020 whereby,
the committee conducted an extensive review of
all relevant previously approved policies, and took
the collective decision to maintain them for 2021,
and refer them for Board of Directors approval.
Furthermore, during the latter meeting, the NRC
also finalized its annual report and performance
review and referred the same to the Board.

The NRC is composed of the following members for the year ended 31 December 2020:
Name

Position

Board Member Type

HE Sheikh Hamad Bin Faisal Al
Thani

Member of the BOD & Chairman of the NRC

Independent

Mr. Danny Mikhael Chrabieh

Member of the BOD & NRC member

Independent

Mr. Omar Saeed Saleh Al Hassan

Member of the BOD & NRC member

Representative of the
Company’s Employees

Mr. Akram Elamin

Chief Administration Officer & NRC member

None

5. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

The Audit Committee meeting and its members’ attendance:

• Assisting the Board in the preparation of a
remuneration policy which identifies and sets
the remuneration framework as well as the
incentives of the Chairman of the Board, the
Board Members, the Executive Management
and the employees.

			 d) Nomination of Executive Management.

• Coordinating the functions of the BOD, the
Executive Management and the Internal
Controls of the Company.

		

		

			 c) ensuring that the nomination criteria
includes the skills, availability, experience as
well as technical and academic qualifications
and personality profile as required by QFMA;

• Ensuring that the remuneration allocated to the
Board Members does not exceed five percent
(5%) of the Company’s net profit, in accordance
with Article 46 of the Company’s articles of
association, Article 119 of the Companies
Law and Article 18 of the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code.
• Taking responsibility for:

			 b) receiving candidacy requests for the Board
membership and identifying and nominating
the candidates to fill Board vacancies. This
will be submitted for approval to the general
assembly.

Chief Executive Officer (CEO): The CEO is responsible
for making strategic recommendations to the Board
and implementing strategies and policies as well
as the Board’s directives. He assumes the executive
responsibility for the day-to-day management of
the Company, with the support of the Executive
Management. This position is held by Mr. Raja Victor
Assili.
Chief Business Development Officer (CBDO): The CBDO
is responsible for seeking business development
opportunities internally and externally. He also
oversees their implementation and monitors their
effectiveness to generate long-term shareholder value
through the realization of sustainable growth and
profitability. This position is held by Mr. Samir Hamaidi.
Chief Financial Officer (CFO): The CFO defines and
directs the financial strategy, policy and reporting
frameworks for QIG. He also oversees financial
accounting and costing functions with the aim of
shareholder value and optimal utilization of financial
resources. in addition, the CFO, ensures the business
is commercially secure/compliant and support the
achievement of the Company’s overall strategic
objectives. The position of CFO is held by Mr. Alex
Aclimandos.

Executive Director – QIG CEO Office: The position of
Executive Director at the CEO office represents a crucial
support function for the CEO since it helps focus on
and facilitate all business development strategies. At
the same time, the Executive Director should cover the
CEO’s duties during his absence. This position assures
business continuity and interfaces effectiveness with
other external entities. The position of Executive
Director – QIG CEO Office is held by Mr. Omar Al-Hassan
Legal Counsel: The Legal Counsel is responsible
for mitigating and eliminating legal risks. He also
resolves related problems and disputes, and provides
ongoing legal assistance to department heads and
the business, while adhering to applicable laws,
regulations and internal policies. Mr. Hany Moqbel
holds that position.
Chief Administration Officer (CAO): CAO leads, directs
and manages the HR & Administration and IT functions
for QIG. He also ensures the effective development
and implementation of strategies, processes, policies,
procedures and services in order to support the
achievement of business objectives in line with the
vision and mission of the organization. Mr. Akram
Elamin holds this position.
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i.
		

ii.

The CAE establishes a risk based audit plans to carry
out the responsibilities of the internal audit activity.
The work includes directing a comprehensive audit
program that provides assurance and consulting
services designed to add value and improve the
organization’s risk management, control, and
governance processes. Mr. Mohammad Al Matari holds
this position.

		

The Executive Committee: An executive committee,
composed of the above individuals, meets generally
on a weekly basis to address impending matters, take
preemptive actions, monitor financial performance,
and assess progress on key projects. The Executive
Committee is chaired by the CEO

6. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND RISK MANAGEMENT
6.1 Internal Control System
		
Responsibility for internal control is embedded in
Group policies. All entities within the QIG Group
must maintain adequate internal controls. As a
minimum requirement, control activities should
address key risks identified within the Group and
be compliant with the Code. Group Management
have the ultimate responsibility for internal
controls within their areas of responsibility.
		

		

QIG’s Board has set the Entity level objectives that
align with the Entity’s vision, mission & strategies.
In pursuit of these objectives, the Organization
encounters events and circumstances which may
threaten the achievement of these company
objectives. To mitigate these risks, an effective
system of internal control has been designed and
implemented.
To design an effective and efficient system of
internal control, the QIG Board adopted the
COSO’s Internal Control Framework. The adopted
COSO framework has been integrated with the

1st Line Model – Operational Management:
QIG’s operational management is assigned
with the primary ownership of risks and the
methods used to manage those risks.
2nd Line Model – Internal monitoring and
oversight function(s):
The internal monitoring and oversight
function(s) at QIG include, but are not
limited to, the Executive Committee,
Corporate Governance Committee, Supply
Chain Committee, Strategic and Investment
Committee, independent functional heads,
etc. The risk management at QIG is per
department, wherein the various internal
monitoring and oversight functions ensure
that controls and risk management processes
are operating as intended.

iii. 3rd Line Model – Internal Audit:
		 Internal audit and provides independent and
objective assurance about the effectiveness
of risk management and control to the Board
and executive management.

Senior Executive Management’s Bonus:
There were no bonuses distributed to the executive
management during 2020.
Key Executive Management Shareholding:
In accordance with their respective undertaking forms
signed for the year 2020, key Executive Managers do
not hold shares in the Company.

identifies, analyzes, evaluates, accepts, measures
and controls all financial and non-financial
risks that may have a negative impact on the
performance and reputation of the Company.
The risk management function in QIG also
ensures that the risk policies, procedures and
methodologies are consistently applied to address
the various risks in particular investment risks,
market risks, credit risks and liquidity risks.

IIA’s recommended Three Lines model to assign
the responsibility for the duties outlined in the
framework. Using the three Lines model, the
duties and responsibilities related to risk and
control is assigned to the following three groups
in QIG:

Chief Audit Executive (CAE): The Company’s Chief Audit
Executive is responsible for assisting the Board and/or
its Audit Committee discharge its corporate governance
responsibilities by integrating audit services to
provide them with assurance as to the adequacy and
effectiveness of the system of internal control and
risk management and governance process throughout
the company. In this regard, the chief audit executive
will inform them as to the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting, and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

6.2 Risk Management
		
Risk management is central to the strategic
management of QIG. It provides a systematic
process for identifying risks attaching to new
and current business activities. QIG has adopted
COSO ERM Integrated Framework to meet the
Company’s objectives with regards to Risk
Management. In line with COSO ERM Framework,
a risk management policy was developed and
approved by the QIG Board.
		

		

Each risk owner maintains a risk register which
identifies the material risks facing the Group
and the internal controls in place to manage
or mitigate those risks. Risk owners review
and update the risk registers regularly. The
risk register is annually reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board. The Executive
Management and Internal Audit Department also
review the approach of identifying and assessing
risks and internal controls in the risk register.
At QIG risk management follows a bottom-up
approach, i.e. every manager/risk owner are
responsible for identifying, compiling, reporting
and communicating risks on their respective
function(s), which are the consolidated, assessed
and remedied at group level. Risk management
is everyone’s responsibility, from the Board and
CEO to the individual employees within each
department/division. Every risk owner in QIG

		

Furthermore, Board of Directors/Committee and
Executive management team are involved in the
establishment of various risk process and provide
the periodic oversight and guidance for the risk
management process. The risk management
processes are subject to additional scrutiny by
internal Audit Department with periodic reporting
to the Board.

6.3 Internal Audit
		
The Internal audit function is an integral part of
the control environment of the QIG. It derives
its delegated authority and mandates from its
charter that is approved by the Board Audit
Committee. It reports functionally to the Audit
Committee and administratively to the Chief
Executive Officer.
		

		

QIG’s Internal Audit Department is an independent
department that provides objective assurance and
consulting activities designed to add value and
improve the company’s operations. It helps the
company accomplish its objectives by bringing a
risk based systematic and disciplined approach
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk
management, control and governance processes.
In this regard, the Audit Department conducts
regular assessments and provides objective and
independent assurance and consulting services.
During the year 2018, QIG internal audit
department received the highest rating of
“Generally Conforms” in the external quality
assessment of internal audit department by PWC.

		

The Audit Department is responsible for the
following specific functions, including but not
limited to:

		

• reviewing and monitoring control procedures
related to financial affairs, investments and
risk management;

		

• reviewing the impact of risk factors on
the Company and the effectiveness and
appropriateness of the systems established
within the Company in facing any drastic and/
or unexpected changes in the market;

		

• assessing any risk faced by QIG or any
potential risk that it might face; and

		

• addressing any suggestion and
recommendation in order to mitigate such
risks.

6.4 External Audit
		
In accordance with Companies Law and QFMA
regulations, the General Assembly of QIG appoints
an external auditor upon the recommendation
of the Audit Committee to the Board. Based on
the Board of Directors’ recommendations, Rödl &
Partners were appointed as the External Auditors
during QIG’s Extra Ordinary and Ordinary Annual
General Assembly Meeting held on 26 February
2020.
		

The external auditor is appointed on a rolling oneyear basis, renewable for a similar period up to a
maximum of five consecutive years.

		

The external auditor appointed shall be registered
on QFMA’s list of external auditors and must
comply with the highest professional standards.
The external auditor shall be completely
independent from the Company and its Board
members and shall not have any conflicts of
interest in his/her relation to the Company.

		

The external auditor shall read the report before
the General Assembly and clarify any queries
from shareholders.

		

The External Auditors provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements fairly
represent the financial position and performance
of the Company. To ensure the above, the External
Auditors perform their audits independent of the
Company.

		

The external auditor also provides a reasonable
assurance on the suitability of design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting and a
limited assurance on the compliance to the Qatar
Financial Markets Authority’s Law and relevant
legislations, including the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code.

		

The External Auditors provide the Board of
Directors members with information related
to any risk to which QIG is exposed to and
also about any identified violation. In case of
any violation, they will immediately notify the
relevant authorities such as QFMA.

7. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
The Company is fully committed to conducting
business with fairness and integrity in order to ensure
that the interests of its shareholders and Stakeholders
are served and protected in a sound manner. QIG
recognizes the importance of maintaining high levels
of confidence amongst its shareholders. The Company
exercises best efforts to run its business with respect,
integrity and accountability.
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QIG monitors potential conflicts of interest at
transactional and corporate levels. The Company
also promotes awareness amongst its employees
and stakeholders to avoid any conflicts of interest
situations which could arise. This effort is transversal
across departments and the Company’s subsidiaries.
Procedures are in place to deal with conflicts of
interests in a fair and transparent manner.

8.1 Shareholders’ Rights in Assembly Meetings
		
Shareholders are invited and encouraged to
attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting
(AGM). The AGM provides a forum in which
shareholders have an opportunity to listen to and
engage with the Board on matters included in the
agenda.
		

The Company abides by the relevant rules issued by
QFMA as well as the Laws and Regulations that govern
the Company’s business, regarding situations that
could result in a conflict of interest. The Company
implements a Conflict of Interest policy which is
reviewed as necessary to address potential gaps.
Moreover, it is worth mentioning that during the year
2020, the Company has put in place a new procedure
in order to avoid any conflict of interests/insider
trading situations. Hence, the Executive Management,
as well as the Board Members, signed a form and a
relevant undertaking form to disclose (1) whether
or not they or their respective family members (as
defined by the QFMA Code) hold any securities in the
Company and (2) whether they acquired or sold their
shares in the Company while knowing sensitive and
undisclosed information that could affect the share
price. This procedure aims to eradicate any conflict of
interests/insider trading situations within the Company
and impose high transparency requirements.
8. PROTECTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Fairness and equality among the Company’s
Shareholders is one of the key principles of an
effective corporate governance. The Company considers
this principle as a priority and is committed to
treating its Shareholders with a high level of integrity,
transparency and equality.
One of the Company’s primary objectives is to increase
Shareholders’ value through prudent and sustainable
strategies. The Company understands that sound
corporate governance adds value to its activities
and relationships with stakeholders. Maintaining the
confidence and of Shareholders and stakeholders is
the cornerstone of the Company’s business activities.
Board Members and the Executive Management always
use their best efforts to apply sound governance
principals and adhere to the principle of equality and
equitable treatment of Shareholders.

		

		

In accordance with Article 138 of the Companies
Law, Article 32 of the QFMA Corporate Governance
Code and Article 57 of the Company’s Articles of
Associations, Shareholders representing at least
25% of the Company’s capital are entitled to call
for an extraordinary general assembly meeting.
Pursuant to the procedures laid down by the law
and in particular Article 32 of the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code, Shareholders who own at least
10% of the Company’s capital are entitled to
request to convene a general assembly meeting
provided if the matters raised justify convening
such a meeting.
The Company ensures that Shareholders’ rights
with regard to the assembly meetings and
procedures are observed. These include but are
not limited to:
• being notified of the date and location of the
assembly meetings and receiving the meeting
agenda at least 15 days prior to the general
assembly meeting date. In addition, the
Company’s financial and Board reports shall be
published in two local daily newspapers (one
of which shall be in Arabic).;

		

• attending meetings of the general assembly
and participating in its deliberations;

		

• discussing matters listed in the agenda;

		

• requesting, when allowed by law, to include in
the general assembly’s meeting agenda certain
matters to be discussed during the assembly
meeting.

		

• asking questions to Board Members and
receiving answers.

		

• Shareholders are entitled to appeal to
the General Assembly if the answers are
considered insufficient;

		

• voting on general resolutions, receiving
information about the rules and procedures
governing the voting process;

		

• being entitled to object to any decision
considered serving the interests of or harming
a certain group of Shareholders; or bringing
a special benefit to Board Members and/or
Company Members against the Company’s
interests; and,

		

• having access to the general assembly minutes
of meetings in a timely manner.

The Protection of Shareholders policy has been
established in compliance with the QFMA Code, the
Company’s Articles of Association and the related laws
and regulations. QIG aspires to always go beyond the
regulatory standards.

		

		

Additionally, as set forth under Article 32 of the
QFMA Corporate Governance Code, Shareholders
are entitled to appoint (in writing and with a
power of attorney) another Shareholder who is not
a Board Member to attend the general assembly
on his/her behalf; provided that this Shareholder
by way of proxy shall not cast a vote for more
than (5%) of the Company’s capital shares. The
proxy Shareholder has the right to participate in
voting in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations and the instructions given by the
absent Shareholder.
Shareholders who are minors are not permitted to
attend the general assembly meetings and shall
be represented by their legal guardians and/or
duly appointed representatives.

8.2 Shareholders’ Rights concerning Dividends
Distribution
		
The distribution of dividends is one of the options
available to the Company for returning value to
its shareholders. During the general assembly
meeting, the Board presents its recommendation
regarding the dividend distribution to the
Company’s Shareholders. Such distribution shall
be based on multiple such as the Company’s
overall performance during the year, financial
results, future cash and liquidity requirements
as well as general market conditions and
other factors deemed relevant by the Board. In
accordance with the Company’s Dividend Policy.
The dividends approved by the general assembly
for distribution, whether they be in cash or bonus
shares are given, as of right, to Shareholders who
are listed in the register kept at the QCSD (Qatar
Central Securities Depositary).
8.3 Protection of Minority Shareholders
		
The Company ensures that all Shareholders,
including the Minority, are treated equally without
any discrimination. All Shareholders receive the
same information regardless of the number of
shares they are in possession of.
		

The Company ensures that the Minority
Shareholders are given their due rights to access
information and voice their opinions.

		

Pursuant to the procedure prescribed in Article
32 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code,
the Minority Shareholders shall be entitled
to exercise their full rights in respect of their
participation and voting in the general assembly
meetings. The Company adopts the cumulative
voting method in Board Members elections (for
more information, refer to Section 3.5 of the
Protection of Shareholders policy), which allows
opportunities for a fair representation of the
Minority Shareholders in the Board. Furthermore,
the Company has implemented a mechanism to
submit complaints and notify any violations or
risks that might threaten the Company.

9. STAKEHOLDERS RIGHTS
The Company works tirelessly to be recognized as a
trustworthy business partner acting in line with its
core values and in compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations.
The Company is committed to conducting business
in a responsible and transparent manner, protecting
the rights of all Stakeholders, creating value and
sustainability through sound practices.
The Company protects Stakeholders’ rights by ensuring
that:
•

All Stakeholders are treated fairly without any
discrimination;

•

Stakeholders are granted access to information
and data related to their activities on a timely and
regular basis;

•

Stakeholders are protected in accordance with all
relevant laws and regulations;

•

Stakeholders’ concerns are addressed in a timely
manner.

QIG has established a Whistle-blowing Policy to
design and create an awareness of any incidents that
need to be conveyed anonymously to the Executive
Management. The Policy aims to protect the Company,
its Shareholders and Stakeholders
The aforementioned protection includes but is not
limited to the right of any employee to disclose any
malpractice within the Company such as misuse or
inappropriate use of QIG’s funds, resources and/or any
criminal offenses without fear of retribution.
10. INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company values its shareholders and recognizes
the importance of meaningful and timely information
disclosure.
The Company’s Investor Relations Officer is responsible
for maintaining investor confidence in the Company
through clear and consistent communications between
management, shareholders and the investment
community. The Investor Relations Officer organizes
shareholder meetings, deals with press release, and
in cooperation with the Company’s Spokesperson,
manages the Company’s external communications in
the event of a crisis.
The Company recognizes that its shareholder base
is diverse and therefore expectations may vary.
Quantitative and qualitative information is released
throughout the year, in compliance with the relevant
regulations. Quarterly earnings call with the company’s
executives are scheduled to provide updates about
the group’s performance and address questions. The
Annual General Meeting is also a valuable opportunity
for shareholders to meet the Board of Directors
and corporate management, listen to the Board of
Directors’ review of the group’s activities, learn about
development plans, and raise any question.
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Current and historical information, including but not
limited to news releases, financial results and investor
presentations are on the company’s website WWW.
QATARIINVESTORS.COM / investor Relations.
QIG’s Investor Relations Office invites and welcomes
feedback from shareholders well as any member
from the investment community. For any queries,
please do not hesitate to send an email to d.saliba@
qatariinvestors.com
11. GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETINGS
QIG’s shareholders gathered at an ordinary general
assembly meeting held on Wednesday, 26 February
2020. This meeting was held under the supervision of
the Ministry of Economy and Industry’s representatives
and in the presence of the Company’s External
Auditors, Rödl & Partner. This meeting was held
in accordance with the requirements of the QFMA
Corporate Governance Code and the Companies Law.
During the meeting, the Board of Directors presented
to the Shareholders the 2019 Annual Report, which

Shareholder

contained the Company’s 2019 performance as well
as the business strategy for the upcoming year. The
Company’s shareholders met during another ordinary
and extraordinary assembly meeting held on Sunday,
26 July 2020. This meeting was held under the
supervision of the Ministry of Economy and Industry’s
representatives and in the presence of QIG’s External
Auditors, Rödl & Partner. This meeting was held
in accordance with the requirements of the QFMA’
Corporate Governance Code and the Companies Law.
During this meeting, new Board Members were elected.
12. EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETING
QIG’s shareholders met during an extraordinary general
assembly meeting held on Sunday, 26 July 2020, in
accordance with the QFMA Code and the Companies
Law.
13. SHAREHOLDERS RECORDS
In accordance with article 25 of the QFMA Corporate
Governance Code, the Company discloses the list of its
current major Shareholders.
No. of Shares

Percentage

Al Misnad LLC

**Approx. 590,000,000

Approx. 47.46%

Ezdan Holding Group through its subsidiaries
and related parties

**Approx. 311,040,890

Approx. 25.02%

**In accordance with the Shareholders List received from QCSD as at 30 November 2020
14. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
In line with Article 4 of the QFMA Corporate Governance
Code and in order to uphold high standards of
disclosure, QIG follows the following procedure:
•

The Company ensures that any disclosed
information is consistently accurate, clear and
reliable.

•

In this context, the Company has established a
Corporate Governance Committee (CGC), which is
mandated to ensure the Company’s compliance
with corporate governance rules.

•

The Legal Department and the CGC assist the
Board, the Executive Management and the relevant
Company’s departments to understand their
respective roles and responsibilities relating to
disclosure requirements.

QIG is committed to disclosing (when applicable) any
violation which has occurred during the financial year
in accordance with the applicable governance rules and
regulations while also implementing remedial measures
to avoid the reoccurrence of similar events.
With reference to Article 52 of the QFMA Offering &
Listing of Securities Rulebook related to the Company’s
lawsuits disclosure, please refer to the financial
statement as of 31 December 2020

15. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
In line with our commitment to the community and
to the nation, the Company considers that corporate
social responsibility (CSR) is a crucial pillar to the
business environment. Both corporate governance and
CSR activities within the Company focus on adopting
ethical practices and demonstrating commitment
towards its Shareholders and Stakeholders.
As the world dealt with the growing consequences of
the Covid-19 pandemic, some CSR activities had to
be curtailed as a consequence of lockdowns and the
compliance with the local health authorities’ measures.
However, some activities, which were able to be
implemented safely, continued on a smaller scale:
–

QIG supported International Men’s Day by
participating, through one of its subsidiaries, in
an event involving the growing of moustaches
during the month of November to raise awareness
of men’s health issues, such as prostate cancer,
testicular cancer and suicide.

–

QIG supported the October Breast Cancer Awareness
Month, in an annual campaign to increase
awareness and to raise funds for research into its
cause, prevention, diagnosis, treatment and cure.

–

In collaboration with Hamad Medical Corporation’s
(HMC) Blood Donor Centre, two blood donation
days were organized.

–

To mark the 9th edition of Qatar National Sports
Day 2020, QIG organised a cricket and badminton
tournament for the group employees.

–

QIG fully supports gender diversity in the
workplace produces and on 8th of March, a group
subsidiary celebrated Women’s International Day,
offering special discounts.

Our Response to Covid-19
QIG continues to monitor closely the COVID-19
outbreak since the World Health Organisation
declared it a Public Health Emergency of International
concern, on 30 January 2020. A group wide crisis
management committee was immediately formed
with a mandate to define, educate and enforce
the group’s response through robust actions. The
Committee took all necessary actions to mitigate risks,
promote compliance with regulatory requirements,
and encourage the widespread adoption of preventive
measures, often surpassing guidelines set by official
bodies.
The Committee also focuses on:
- Protecting employees and customers.
- Benchmarking, tracking and embracing best
practices.
- Defining and enforcing effective action plans.
- Conveying clear, regular and consistent messages.
- Raising awareness and promoting responsible
behaviour.
Through 2020, the total positive number of cases did
not exceed 6% of the total workforce. Fortunately,
all those affected recovered fully. While business
continuity was largely maintained, operations were
also restricted in certain subsidiaries in order to
control contagion risks and avoid complete shutdowns.
At the time of writing, monitoring and mitigation
measures remain in place.

16. SUSTAINABILITY
We believe that sustainability is about preserving
our environment, respecting our employees and
community, and returning value to our shareholders.
Starting 2021, QIG will implement group wide
monitoring systems in order to promote a positive
contribution to the United Nations’ Sustainable Goals,
which aim to improve the lives of people and create an
all-round healthier world for tomorrow. We will report
yearly on key measurements with qualitative and
quantitative data. This will be an enterprise wide effort,
engaging all our subsidiaries.
QIG will begin its sustainability drive by adopting the
following 5 goals:
Good Health & Wellbeing:
Employees are at the heart of every organization.
Protecting the health, safety and security of our
employees, clients, guests and others working on our
behalf are key priorities.
Quality education:
We provide an inclusive working environment in
which we endeavor to develop our talent. Developing
people is key to achieving our strategic objectives as a
responsible business and for the long-term success of
the company.
Decent work & Economic Growth:
We recognize that our success is tied to fair
employment practices and providing a safe and
compliant working environment.
Responsible consumption and production:
As one of our subsidiaries is a construction materials
business, we have a greater responsibility to meet
emissions targets and protect the environment. In
addition, responsible consumption campaigns will be
launched across the group.
Peace, Justice and strong institutions:
As a conglomerate consisting of several entities,
we place a strong emphasis on transparency,
accountability, good governance, and nondiscrimination at all levels.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
QATARI INVESTORS GROUP Q.P.S.C.
DOHA - QATAR
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Financial
Reports 2020
The consolidated financial statements of Qatari
Investors Group Q.P.S.C. and its subsidiaries comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of
cash flows and notes to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. (“the
Company”), and its subsidiaries (together referred
as “the Group”) which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31,
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting
policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at December 31, 2020, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements in Qatar,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
the context.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters.

Existence and valuation of Inventories
We have identified inventory existence and costing as
an area requiring particular audit attention due to the
following:
• The Group has significant levels of inventory at the yearend;
• In arriving at the cost of various types of inventories at
the year end, the Group employs different processes.
The cost of work in progress and finished products
in particular, involves the use of raw materials and
the allocation of payroll cost and overheads using a
technical process;
• The quantities of different types of inventories at the
year-end are determined using different processes.
Particularly, the quantities of raw materials, certain
work in progress and finished products are determined
using quantity surveys at site, a technical process which
requires particular expertise.
The accounting policy for inventory is outlined in Note 3,
and a breakdown of inventories is presented in Note 12.

• Attending the physical inventory count at the year
end and assessing the adequacy of controls over the
existence of inventory;

• Reviewing the Group’s process reflecting the results
of physical inventory taking into accounting books of
records.
With respect to determination of cost of inventory, our audit
procedures included:
• For purchased items of inventory including raw materials
and spare parts, reviewing the Group’s procurement
process and testing supporting documentation on a
sample basis; and
• For work in progress and finished goods, assessing the
reasonableness of the Group’s costing methods and
processes through a mix of control and substantive
procedures.
• We evaluated the objectivity, independence and
expertise of the external valuators appointed by the
management.

The Group records its investment properties at fair
value, with changes in fair values being recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

• We tested the accuracy and completeness of the
underlying data used as inputs for the valuation.
• We verified the reasonableness of the underlying
assumptions used by the valuator by comparing the
assumptions used with internal and external data.
• Assessed the adequacy and completeness of the
disclosures on the valuation of investment properties,
presented in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue
Revenue recognition has been identified as a key audit
matter due to the following:
• Significant volume of transactions; and
• As described in the Note No. 26, 89% revenues from the
total revenue resulted from industrial activities.
The accounting policy for revenue is outlined in Note 3 and
a breakdown of revenue is presented in Note 26.

The Group is engaged in a number of legal cases, of which
the most signiﬁcant are disclosed in Note 38. There are
claims which could have an impact on the results of the
Group if the potential exposures were to materialise.

• Reviewing the results of the quantity surveys at the
year-end; and

The Group owns a portfolio of commercial and residential
property assets valued at QR. 762,899,425 at December 31,
2020.

The valuation of the portfolio, including a number of
development properties, is a significant judgement area
and involves a number of assumptions. In addition, the
valuation of the Group’s property portfolio is inherently
subjective due to, among other factors, the individual
nature of each property, its location and the expected
future rental revenue for that particular property.

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Legal cases
Our audit procedures to address the risk of material
misstatement relating to inventory existence included:

Valuation of investment properties

The Group uses a professionally qualified external valuer to
fair value the Group’s portfolio.

Key audit matters

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material
misstatement relating to accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of revenue recognition included:
• Evaluating the design and implementations, and testing
the operating effectiveness of relevant controls over the
revenue cycle.
• We focused our audit on the revenue from industrial
activities because of the large product volumes and
consequent high volume of transactions.
• Testing of IT general controls and major IT applications
controls related to revenue recognition.

We discussed this issue with internal legal counsel
and read available external information in order to
understand the latest position of the proceedings and
assess management’s views as to the strength of the
claim against the Group. From the evidence obtained
management has made the decision not to make a
provision. However, given the uncertainty involved, the
matter is not without risk.
We also assessed the disclosures provided in order to
determine whether the disclosures were sufficiently clear
regarding the uncertainties that existed.

Other Information
Board of Directors are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the Board
of Directors’ Report, which we obtained prior to the date
of this auditors’ report and the annual report, which
is expected to be made available to us after that date.
The other information does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance or conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS and the applicable provisions of Qatar
Commercial Companies Law, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going

concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risk, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the internal control.

• Performing substantive test of details and analytical
procedures; and
• Assessed the adequacy and completeness of the
disclosures.
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law and regulations
preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Further, as required by the Qatar Commercial Companies
Law, we are of the opinion that proper books of account
were maintained by the Group and its financial statements
are in agreement with, and a physical inventory verification
was conducted in accordance with established principles.
We have obtained all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary for the purpose of our
audit. To the best of our knowledge and belief and according
to the information given to us, we are not aware of any
violations of applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial
Companies Law 11 of 2015 and the terms of the Company’s
Articles of Association were committed during the year,
which might have had a material adverse effect on the
Group’s financial position and its financial performance as at
and for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Rodl & Partner – Qatar Branch
Certified Public Accountants
Magdy Aboelkhier
Member of Qatar Association of
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 321
QFMA Registration Auditor’s No. 120151
Doha – Qatar
February 1, 2021

Notes
2020
2019
		
QR.
QR.
ASSETS
Non-current assets				
Property, plant and equipment
5
2,278,842,432
2,283,299,820
Right-of-use assets
6
73,233,724
77,823,085
Investment properties
7
762,899,425
776,107,964
Goodwill
8
312,819,226
312,819,226
Investments in associates
9
41,825,583
43,565,758
Financial investments at FVTOCI
10
8,219,235
7,205,676
Total non-current assets		
Current assets
Contract assets
Inventories
Prepayments and other debit balances
Advances to contractors and suppliers
Due from related parties
Accounts receivable
Cash and bank balances

11
12
13
14
15(a)
16
17

Total current assets		

3,477,839,625

3,500,821,529

3,463,125
280,814,641
42,184,394
11,888,829
2,370,541
255,559,511
639,035,305

2,259,144
459,682,077
49,946,670
32,181,485
2,505,493
303,482,967
427,870,495

1,235,316,346

1,277,928,331

Total assets		
4,713,155,971
4,778,749,860
				
EQUITY				
Share capital
18
1,243,267,780
1,243,267,780
Legal reserve
19
621,633,890
621,633,890
Fair value reserve		
4,603,435
3,589,876
Retained earnings		
886,598,760
878,753,868
Proposed dividends		
74,596,067
68,379,728
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company		
Non-controlling interests		

2,830,699,932
44,458,883

2,815,625,142
39,178,133

Total equity		 2,875,158,815
2,854,803,275
				
LIABILITIES				
Non-current liabilities				
Bank borrowings
20
1,262,787,180
1,440,347,409
Lease liabilities
21
65,914,497
69,170,478
Employees’ end of service benefits
22
8,627,707
8,665,154
Total non-current liabilities 		

1,337,329,384

1,518,183,041

Current liabilities				
Bank borrowings
20
143,649,103
124,042,265
Lease liabilities
21
7,112,062
6,465,369
Accounts payable
23
18,954,011
31,128,913
Due to related parties
15(b)
3,564,639
2,682,093
Retention payables 		
24,168,702
23,953,953
Notes payable
24
1,340,709
4,609,076
Accruals and other liabilities
25
301,878,546
212,881,875
Total current liabilities		 500,667,772

405,763,544

Total liabilities		 1,837,997,156

1,923,946,585

Total equity and liabilities		 4,713,155,971

4,778,749,860

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on their behalf by the
following on February 1, 2021.
Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad
Board Chairman
THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes
2020
2019
		
QR.
QR.

Revenue
Cost of revenue
26
27
700,799,087
(425,313,143)
635,719,178
(309,226,179)

Gross profit 		
275,485,944
326,492,999

Income from short-term deposits and saving accounts		
Other income		
Investment income		
Net change in fair values of investment properties
7
Selling and distribution expenses
28
General and administrative expenses
29
Finance costs		
Share of profit from investments in associates
9
Net profit for the year before income tax		
Income tax expense
30
4,577,290
7,353,255
1,038,600
(12,195,170)
(12,668,980)
(107,684,943)
(72,996,976)
13,235,633
96,144,653
(6,309,073)
8,246,271
9,156,801
623,160
(24,441,643)
(8,098,394)
(94,151,525)
(82,849,751)
18,113,167
153,091,085
–

Net profit for the year after income tax		
89,835,580
153,091,085
				
Attributable to:				
Shareholders of the Company		
84,554,830
148,517,023
Non-controlling interests		
5,280,750
4,574,062
Net profit for the year after income tax		

Total comprehensive income for the year after income tax		

Basic and diluted earnings per share
32
89,835,580
153,091,085

Other comprehensive income				
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods				
Net change in fair value of financial investments designated at FVTOCI		
1,013,559
1,567,296

Total comprehensive income for the year after income tax		
90,849,139
154,658,381
				
Attributable to:				
Shareholders of the Company		
85,568,389
150,084,319
Non-controlling interests		
5,280,750
4,574,062
90,849,139
154,658,381

0.07
0.12

621,633,890

4,603,435

1,013,559
–
–
–

1,013,559

3,589,876
–

–

1,567,296
–
–
–

886,598,760

84,554,830
–
(74,596,067)
(2,113,871)

–

878,753,868
84,554,830

–

148,517,023
–
(68,379,728)
(3,712,926)

74,596,067

–
(68,379,728)
74,596,067
–

–

68,379,728
–

–

–
(93,245,084)
68,379,728
–

2,830,699,932

85,568,389
(68,379,728)
–
(2,113,871)

1,013,559

2,815,625,142
84,554,830

–

150,084,319
(93,245,084)
–
(3,712,926)

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1,243,267,780

–
–
–
–

Total comprehensive income for the year
after income tax
Dividends paid to the shareholders
Proposed dividends to the shareholders
Social and sports fund contribution (Note 31)
Balance as at December 31, 2020

–

–

–
–
–
–

621,633,890
–

1,243,267,780
–

–

–
Balance as at December 31, 2019
Net profit for the year after income tax
Other comprehensive income for the year
after income tax

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

44,458,883

5,280,750
–
–
–

–

39,178,133
5,280,750

16,997,039

4,574,062
(22,500,000)
–
–

2,875,158,815

90,849,139
(68,379,728)
–
(2,113,871)

1,013,559

2,854,803,275
89,835,580

16,997,039

154,658,381
(115,745,084)
–
(3,712,926)

For the year ended December 31, 2020

Total comprehensive income for the year
after income tax
Dividends paid to the shareholders
Proposed dividends to the shareholders
Social and sports fund contribution (Note 31)
Share of equity of non-controlling interests
(Note 33)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

						
Attributable
						
to the
						
shareholders
NonShare
Legal
Fair value
Retained
Proposed
of the
controlling
capital
reserve
reserve
earnings
dividends
Company
interest
Total
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.
								
Balance as at January 1, 2019
1,243,267,780
621,633,890
2,022,580
802,329,499
93,245,084
2,762,498,833
40,107,032 2,802,605,865
Net profit for the year after income tax
–
–
–
148,517,023
–
148,517,023
4,574,062
153,091,085
Other comprehensive income for the year
after income tax
–
–
1,567,296
–
–
1,567,296
–
1,567,296

44

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2020

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

For the year ended December 31, 2020

Notes
2020
2019
		
QR.
QR.

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES
Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) is a Qatari Public Shareholding Company incorporated in the state
of Qatar on May 4, 2006 in accordance with the Qatar Commercial Companies Laws and the terms of its Articles of
Association. The Company operates under commercial registration No. 32831.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year after income tax		
89,835,580
Adjustments for:			
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
5
51,742,359
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
6
8,756,342
Accrued finance costs		
57,335,640
Interest expense on lease liabilities
21
4,496,928
Income tax expenses
30
6,309,073
Share of profit from investments in associates
9
(13,235,633)
Write off of property, plant and equipment
5
–
Gain on lease cancellation		
(24,066)
Net movement in provision for inventories
12
(14,972,421)
Provision for impairment of accounts receivables
16
(1,495,301)
(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
(3,717,902)
Net change in fair values of investment properties
7
12,195,170
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
22
2,603,478

153,091,085
104,215,344
7,900,559
83,448,691
4,531,611
–
(18,113,167)
907,575
–
11,742,480
5,422,806
(4,442,132)
24,441,643
2,676,851

The Company is primarily engaged in investing in shares and other financial instruments, managing and providing
support to its subsidiaries, ownership, leasing of patent, trademarks and investment properties.
The address of the Company’s head office is QIG Tower, Lusail, Qatar.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and of its
wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”).
Composition of the Group:
The Group owns 100% of the beneficial interest and controls the following entities as at December 31, 2020:
Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation

Ownership
interest

QIG Property L.L.C.

Qatar

100%

Principal Activity
Real estate

		 199,829,247
375,823,346
Movements in working capital:				
Inventories		 193,839,857
(110,118,315)
Prepayments and other debit balances		
10,013,143
6,999,624
Advances to contractors and suppliers		
20,292,656
17,509,424
Due from related parties		
134,952
2,397,638
Accounts receivable		
49,418,757
(30,130,256)
Contracts assets		
(1,203,981)
(1,129,323)
Accounts payable		
(12,174,902)
(27,814,109)
Due to related parties		
882,546
(1,437,390)
Retention payables		
214,749
(1,713,296)
Accruals and other liabilities		
67,908,359
(38,107,138)

The Investors Company L.L.C.
Qatar
100%
			

Trading of construction materials,
equipment and trucks

Qatari Investment Group L.L.C.

Qatar

100%

Investment and other trading

QIG Marine Services Company L.L.C. *

Qatar

100%

Marine services and shipping

QIG Technology Company L.L.C. *

Qatar

100%

Information technology services

QIG Trading Company L.L.C. *

Qatar

100%

Various trading activities

Cash generated from operations		
Employees’ end of service benefits paid
22
Income tax expenses paid		
Finance costs paid		

529,155,383
(2,640,925)
(5,110,380)
(73,582,669)

192,280,205
(6,359,365)
–
(27,915,357)

QIG Financial Services L.L.C.

Qatar

100%

Financial services

QIG Projects Development L.L.C. *

Qatar

100%

Industry equipment works

Net cash generated from operating activities		

447,821,409

158,005,483

QIG Industries L.L.C. *
Qatar
100%
			

Mechanical and industrial
engineering equipment

INVESTING ACTIVITIES				
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment		
4,948,018
4,736,124
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
5
(18,148,527)
(23,637,307)
Additions to investment properties
7
(29,353,191)
(8,249,579)
Additions to investment in financial assets 		
–
(288,500)
Net movement in restricted cash margin		
–
(30,000,000)
Dividends from investments in associates
9
14,975,808
13,707,131
Net cash addition from business combination
33
–
11,578,054

QIG Contracting Company L.L.C.

Contracting services

Net cash (used in) investing activities		

*These entities hold investments in other subsidiaries controlled by the Group such as Al Khalij Cement Company
L.L.C, International Technical and Trading Company L.L.C., Qatar Security Systems L.L.C. and few marine services,
logistics and shipping companies.

(27,577,892)

(32,154,077)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES				
Proceeds from borrowings		
6,600,000
1,489,069,849
Repayment of borrowings 		
(148,306,362)
(1,583,742,844)
Payment of lease liabilities		
(11,249,131)
(10,219,292)
Payment of social and sports fund contribution		
(3,712,926)
(5,146,895)
Net movement in notes payable		
(3,268,367)
3,120,255
Dividends paid to the shareholders / non-controlling interests		
(68,379,728)
(115,745,084)
Net cash used in financing activities		

(228,316,514)

(222,664,011)

Net increase / (decrease) in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents		
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		

191,927,003
334,831,114

(96,812,605)
431,643,719

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

526,758,117

334,831,114

17

QIG Global Company L.L.C.
Qatar
100%
International companies
			representation

Qatar

100%

QIG General Services L.L.C.
Qatar
100%
Construction materials trading –
			contracting
Qatari Group for Investment L.L.C.

Qatar

100%

Investment and other trading

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2020

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
a)
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) and applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law and the Company’s Articles of
Associations.
b)

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
d) Newly effective standards, amendments and improvement to standards (continued)
		

		 Adoption not expected to impact the Group’s Consolidated financial statements
Effective date

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at measurement date.

Description

January 1, 2021
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2
		 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree
to which the inputs to the fair value measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
(i)

New and amended standards not yet effective, but available for early adoption
The below new and amended IFRS that are available for early adoption for financial year ended December 31, 2020
are not effective until a later period, and they have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial
statements.

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

January 1, 2022

•
•
•
•

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)

January 1, 2023

• IFRS 17 ‘’Insurance Contracts’’ and amendments to IFRS 17 ‘’Insurance Contracts’’
• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)

Effective date
• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
deferred indefinitely 		 and its Associate or Joint Venture

(ii) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
c)

Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyal (QR.), which is the Group’s functional and
presentation currency.

d)

Newly effective standards, amendments and improvement to standards
Several amendments apply for the first time from January 1, 2020, but do not have an impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. The Group has early adopted the amendments to IFRS 16 on, ‘Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions’. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this amendment is described
below. Apart from this the Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that have
been issued but are not yet effective.
•
Amendments to IFRS 16 on, “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions”

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to both periods presented in these consolidated financial
statements unless otherwise stated.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its controlled entities
(its subsidiaries) as at December 31, 2020. Control is achieved when the Group:
•

has power over the investee;

•

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after June 1, 2020 and the Group
has early adopted this amendment in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

As per the amendment lessees are currently required to assess whether rent concessions are lease
modifications and, if they are, apply specific accounting guidance. Accordingly, when the scope of a lease
increases and the consideration changes commensurately, a separate lease exists and IFRS 16 requires that
any modification be considered a new lease, and that any remaining prepayments and accruals are included
in the accounting for this new lease. The amendment permits lessees, as a practical expedient, not to assess
whether particular rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease
modifications and instead to account for those rent concessions as if they are not lease modifications. The
amendment does not affect lessors.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

Early adoption of this amendment did not result in any changes to previously reported net profit or equity of
the Group.
Other amendments to standards that are effective as of January 1, 2020;
•
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
•
Amendments to IFRS 3 on ‘Definition of a business’
•
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 on ‘Definition of Material’
•
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 on ‘Interest rate benchmark reform’
The adoption of the above did not result in any changes to previously reported net profit or equity of the Group.

•

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

•

potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

•

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

•

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholder’s meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those
used by the Group.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income and expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
The financial statements of the Subsidiaries were prepared for the same period ended December 31, 2020.
Non‑controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests
of non‑controlling shareholders that present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non‑controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an
acquisition‑by‑acquisition basis. Other non‑controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to
acquisition, the carrying amount of non‑controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plus the non‑controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
non‑controlling interests even if this results in the non‑controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non‑controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non‑controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the shareholders of the Company.
Business combinations & goodwill
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. In a business combination achieved without the transfer of
consideration, the Group substitutes the acquisition-date fair value of its interest in the acquiree for the acquisition-date
fair value of the consideration transferred to measure goodwill or a gain on a bargain purchase. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to its acquisition‑date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a bargain purchase gain.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Goodwill (continued)
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is initially recognised and measured as set out above.
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the profit or loss on disposal.
Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operations policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment.
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or
when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the
retained interest, is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. If a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, then Group also reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the
extent of the interest in the associate.
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value
with any change therein recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment properties are
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period of derecognition.
Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the net book value at the date
of change in use. If owner-occupied properties become investment properties, the Group accounts for such properties in
accordance with the policy stated under properties and equipment up to the date of change in use.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Land is not
depreciated.
Depreciation is recognized to write-off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful lives using the
straight line method. The following are the estimated useful lives of the assets:
Useful life in years
Buildings

15-50

Equipment

5-30

Furniture and fixtures

5

Computers and software

3

Motor and heavy vehicles

5-10

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each
reporting date. The effect of any changes to estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis. The Group has applied
the unit of production method for depreciating production related building and equipment during the year (refer Note
4.2).
Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and
equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as the expense is incurred.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
At each annual reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated
as a revaluation increase.
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in
profit or loss.
Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
•

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Financial assets (continued)
Classification of financial assets (continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (continued)
ii.
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

A financial asset is held for trading if:
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near future; or

•

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

•

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short‑term profit‑taking; or

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

•

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Despite the
foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:
•

the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (see (ii) below); and

•

the Group may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch (see (iii) below).

i.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

The Group has designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on
initial application of IFRS 9.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit‑impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets, a credit‑adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit
losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

iii.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

•

for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item

•

for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains and
losses’ line item. Other exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the investments
revaluation reserve;

•

for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item; and

•

for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in
the investments revaluation reserve.

Finance income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial
assets, finance income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit‑impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit‑impaired, finance income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
risk on the credit‑impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit‑impaired,
finance income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.
For purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets, the Group recognises finance income by applying
the credit‑adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit‑impaired.
Finance income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Income from short-term deposits and
savings” line item.
ii.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or
loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained
earnings.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument‑by‑instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (see (i) to (ii) above)
are measured at FVTPL.
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that measured
at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risks since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.
The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for accounts receivable, advances, and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the receivables, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of many
where appropriate.
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being creditimpaired at the reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life
of financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

(i)

•

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

•

information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward‑looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward‑looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think‑tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

(ii)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit‑impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit‑impaired includes
observable data about the following events:
a. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
b. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

c. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

•

d. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

•

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or
the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

•

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

(iv) Write off policy
The Group fully provides for or writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

•

significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

(v)

•

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
1. The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
2. The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near future, and
3. Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial
position and there are no past due amounts.
For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.,
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward‑looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward‑looking information.
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable.
For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by
the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12 month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial
asset in the statement of financial position.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds
received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition
of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in
equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.
Financial liabilities and equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured in
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in
a business combination, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near future; or

•

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•

it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

As at the reporting date, the Group did not carry any financial liabilities that has been measured at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii)
held‑for‑trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating finance cost over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contract liabilities
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:
•

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see financial assets above); and

•

the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies set out above.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in profit
or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship. For those which are designated as
a hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency risk foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.
The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the substantially
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing
liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is
assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the
modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification;
and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification
gain or loss within other gains and losses.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and the
costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
At the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that
would be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount recognised initially less cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.
Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employees’ end of service benefits and pension entitlements
The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period, calculated under
the provisions of the Qatar Labour Law and the employees’ contracts and is payable upon resignation or termination of
the employee. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.
Under Law No. 24 of 2002 on Retirement and Pension, the Group is required to make contributions to a Government
fund scheme for Qatari employees calculated as a percentage of the Qatari employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations
are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.
Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources
•

Revenue from industrial activities

•

Contracting revenue

•

Services revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers
control of a product or service to a customer.
Revenue from industrial activities
Revenue from industrial activities includes revenue from sale of cement. Revenue from industrial activities is recognized
when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific location
(delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the
goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. A receivable is recognized by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer as this represents
the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.
(i)

Variable consideration
If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Some contracts for the sale of electronics equipment provide
customers with a right of return and volume rebates. The rights of return and volume rebates give rise to variable
consideration.
Rights of return
Certain contracts provide a customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period. The Group uses
the expected value method to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this method best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining
estimates of variable consideration are also applied in order to determine the amount of variable consideration
that can be included in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, the
Group recognises a refund liability. A right of return asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from a customer.
Volume rebates
The Group provides retrospective volume rebates to certain customers once the quantity of products purchased
during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future rebates, the Group applies the most likely
amount method for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the expected value method for contracts with
more than one volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable consideration
is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The Group then applies the
requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration and recognises a refund liability for the expected
future rebates.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)
(ii)

Significant financing component
Generally, the Group receives short-term advances from its customers. Using the practical expedient in IFRS 15, the
Group does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component
if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer of the promised good or service to the
customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.
The transaction price for such contracts is discounted, using the rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and its customers at contract inception, to take into consideration the
significant financing component.

		 Services revenue
Services revenue includes installation services relating to security equipment, and shipping agency services.
Services revenue is recognised over time as a performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is recognised for
these services based on the stage of completion of the contract. The management has assessed that the stage
of completion determined as the proportion of the total time expected to render the service that has elapsed
at the end of the reporting period is an appropriate measure of progress towards complete satisfaction of these
performance obligations under IFRS 15. Payment for such services is not due from the customer until the services
are complete and therefore a contract asset is recognised over the period in which the services are performed
representing the entity’s right to consideration for the services performed to date.
		 Contracting revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.
The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers based on achieving a series of performance-related milestones.
When a particular milestone is reached, the customer is sent a relative statement of work and an invoice for the
related milestone payment. The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for any work performed.
Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to accounts receivable at the point at which
it is invoiced to customer. If the milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-tocost method, then the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference. There is not considered to be a
significant financing component in construction contracts with customers as the period between the recognition of
revenue under the cost-to-cost method and the milestone payment is always less than one year.
		 Revenue form rental of vehicles
Revenue from services is recognised as the services are rendered, including where they are based on contractual
daily rates for the renting of vehicles in respect of multi-year service contracts. Revenue from vehicles hired on
time is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously received and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group’s performs.
Lease rental income
Rental income from investment properties is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.
Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established
provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group’s and the amount of income can be
measured reliably.  Dividend income is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the date that the
Group’s right to receive payment is established.
Finance income
Finance income from financial assets is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Finance income is accrued on a time basis with reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective profit rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which they are incurred.
Foreign currency transactions
In preparing the individual financial statements of the Group companies, transactions in currencies other than the
Group’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except as otherwise stated in the Standards.
Income tax
Taxes are calculated based on applicable laws or regulations in the State of Qatar. Currently there is no corporate tax
applicable to the Parent in the State of Qatar. However, corporate tax is applicable on subsidiaries operating in the State
of Qatar.
Leases
The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract,
that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.
To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:
•

the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group

•

the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

•

the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

The Group as a lessee
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial
direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease,
and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)
The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients.
Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been presented on the face of the statement of financial position.
The Group as a lessor
The Group’s accounting policy under IFRS 16 has not changed from the comparative period. As a lessor the Group
classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
4.1

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements and estimations, that management has made in the process of
applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements:
Impact of COVID -19
In March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by WHO (World Health Organization) and is causing disruptions
to business and economic activities across the globe. The local government system in Qatar has announced
various measures to support businesses to mitigate possible adverse impact due to the pandemic. The Group
continues to monitor the situation and the Group’s management have taken measures to continue the operations
with minimal disruptions and also have risk management plans in place to manage potential disruptions in the
future.
Due to the prevailing uncertain situation, the Group management have revisited its judgements, estimates and
risk management objectives and have considered the potential impacts of the current volatility in determining the
reported amounts of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets as at December 31, 2020.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid
at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

Going concern
Management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that
the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. The Group has been profitable,
and it had positive net asset (equity), working capital and cash flow positions as at the year end. Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going
concern basis.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

The Group continues to monitor the situation closely and the Group’s management have taken measures to
manage potential business disruptions from COVID -19 that may have on the Group’s operations and financial
performance in 2020 and in the future.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in, in-substance fixed payments.

Revenue recognition
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing
of revenue from contracts with customers:

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier
of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-ofuse asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and
loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of equipment and installation services
The Group provides installation services that are either sold separately or bundled together with the sale of
equipment to a customer. The installation services are a promise to transfer services in the future and are part of
the negotiated exchange between the Group and the customer.
The Group determined that both the equipment and installation are capable of being distinct. The fact that the
Group regularly sells both equipment and installation on a stand-alone basis indicates that the customer can
benefit from both products on their own. The Group also determined that the promises to transfer the equipment
and to provide installation are distinct within the context of the contract. The equipment and installation are not
inputs to a combined item in the contract. The Group is not providing a significant integration service because the
presence of the equipment and installation together in this contract do not result in any additional or combined
functionality and neither the equipment nor the installation modify or customise the other. In addition, the
equipment and installation are not highly interdependent or highly interrelated, because the Group would be able
to transfer the equipment even if the customer declined installation and would be able to provide installation in
relation to products sold by other distributors.
Consequently, the Group allocated a portion of the transaction price to the equipment and the installation services
based on relative stand-alone selling prices.
The Group concluded that revenue for installation services is to be recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The fact that another entity would
not need to re-perform the installation that the Group has provided to date demonstrates that the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the Group’s performance as it performs.
Determining the timing of satisfaction of sale of goods
The Group concluded that revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods, at which point the Group has a right to
payment, the customer has legal title, physical possession, significant risks and rewards of ownership and has
accepted the goods.
Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation for contracting services
The Group concluded that revenue from contracting services, including shipping and marine services is recognised
over time as set out in revenue recognition policy.
Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation for vehicle rental services
The Group concluded that revenue from vehicle rental services is recognised over time as it performs continuous
transfer of control of goods or services to the customers. Because customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided and the control transfer takes place over time, revenue is also recognised based
on the extent of transfer/completion of transfer of each performance obligation. In determining the method for
measuring progress for these performance obligations, we have considered the nature of these goods and services
as well as nature of its performance.
Estimating variable consideration for returns and volume rebates
The Group estimates variable considerations to be included in the transaction price for the sale of equipment with
rights of return and volume rebates.
Business model assessment
Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI (Solely Payments of
Principal and Interest) and the business model test (see Note 3). The Group determines the business model at a
level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets
is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how
these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their
maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of
the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether
the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the years presented.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk
As explained in Note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12‑month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime
ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.
Legal Cases
Note 38 describes a number of legal actions against the Group. Management has chosen not to make a provision
for any claims against the Group as the eventual outcome of the legal actions are uncertain and we do not believe
will have any financial impact.
Classification of associate
The Group has various investments in associates. Despite holding of 50% of the shareholding of such companies,
by virtue of the contractual arrangements, the Group does not have control over the financial and operating policy
decisions and hence has a significant influence over these associate companies.
Obtaining control of entities previously accounted for as associates
As described in Note 33, during 2019, the Group has obtained control over an entity, previously accounted for
Investments in associates. Control was assumed through the appointment of fully authorised managers and
thereby in accordance with the Article of Association, the ability to direct the relevant activities. Accordingly,
the Group has consolidated in the financial statements of these companies with effect from January 1, 2019, in
accordance with requirements of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Measurement of investment properties
Management of the Group is required to choose as its accounting policy either the fair value model or the cost
model and shall apply this policy to all of its investment property, except if it holds an investment property as a
lessee under an operating lease, under which it is required to hold these investment properties only at fair value.
The Group has chosen to adopt the fair value model for the purposes of measuring its investment properties in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. Management reviews annually the useful lives of these assets.
Future depreciation charge could be materially adjusted where management believes the useful lives differ from
previous estimates. No such adjustments were considered necessary at the end of the current year.
Impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s property and equipment and right-of-use assets are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. The determination of what can be
considered impaired requires judgement. As at the reporting date, management did not identify any evidence
from internal reporting indicating impairment of an asset or class of assets. The Group’s management have also
considered any impairment indicators and any significant and concluded that there is no material impact due to
COVID -19.
Property lease classification –Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains all
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating
leases.
Determining whether a contract is, or contains, a lease – Group as lessee
The Group determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The right to control the use of an
identified asset, is assessed by considering whether the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use and has the right to direct the
use the identified asset throughout the period of use.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
Determining the lease term –Group as lessee
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended
(or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the
Group becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within
the control of the lessee.
The following factors are normally the most relevant:
• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably certain to extend
(or not terminate).
• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the group is typically
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).
• Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and business
disruption required to replace the leased asset.
Determining the incremental borrowing rate –Group as lessee
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, its uses its Incremental
Borrowing Rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s financial currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates.
Provision for Take or Pay obligations
Cost of sales doesn’t include the take or pay obligations towards the supplier of natural gas estimated at USD 21
million for 2020 as the Group sees this charge doesn’t apply.
4.2

Key source of estimation
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the consolidated
statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed as below:
Percentage-of-completion
The Group uses the input method to recognise revenue on the basis of entity’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation in accounting for its construction contracts. This is done by measuring the costs
incurred to date relative to the total expected costs to be incurred (forecast final costs).
At each reporting date, the Group is required to estimate stage of completion and costs to complete on its
construction contracts. These estimates require the Group to make estimates of future costs to be incurred, based
on work to be performed beyond the reporting date. These estimates also include the cost of potential claims
by subcontractors and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers. Effects of any revision
to these estimates are reflected in the year in which the estimates are revised. When it is probable that total
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the total expected loss is recognised immediately, as soon as
foreseen, whether or not work has commenced on these contracts. The Group uses its commercial teams together
with project managers to estimate the costs to complete of construction contracts. Factors such as delays in
expected completion date, changes in the scope of work, changes in material prices, increase in labour and other
costs are included in the construction cost estimates based on best estimates updated on a regular basis.
Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in the use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value. Details of the value in use calculation are set out in Note 8.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
4.2 Key source of estimation (continued)
Fair value of investment properties
Fair value is time specific as of a given date. Because market conditions may change, the amount reported as
fair value may be incorrect or inappropriate if estimated as of another time. The management uses independent
appraiser to evaluate the investment properties and believes that the value of investment properties reflects the
fair market value of these investment properties. Information about the fair value of investment properties is set
out in Note 7.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated individual useful lives. The
determination of useful lives is based on the expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear, and
technological or commercial obsolescence, and impacts the annual depreciation charge recognized in the
consolidated financial statements.
The Group Management reviews annually the depreciation method, residual values and useful lives of these
assets. Future depreciation charge could be materially adjusted where management believes the depreciation
method, useful lives and / or the residual values differ from previous estimates.
Depreciation is an accounting technique that allocates the depreciable amount of the asset to the periods
expected to benefit from the use of the asset. Due to the impact of COVID 19 pandemic, the clinker production
units were shut down, and remained so till year end, creating significant change in the pattern and periods of
yielding expected benefits from the use of the clinker production units. Accordingly, the management has decided
that the unit production method would reflect the pattern of the yielding of economic benefits more accurately
than the straight line method previously used. Management obtained from an international consulting firm
specialized in cement industry, the remaining minimum quantities of clinker and cement that can get produced on
the existing lines and used it to calculate the depreciation rate per ton of production.
The effect of the change in estimate relating to the depreciation method has been recognized prospectively. Shall
the company produce at optimum capacity, there should be no material difference in the depreciation charged
yearly. Had the Company continued to use the straight line method as in previous years, the depreciation charged
to the profit or loss statement would have been increased by Qr forty four million for the year end, and the
carrying value of the property, plant and equipment would have been decreased by the same amount.
The effect of this change in estimate of the depreciation method in future periods cannot be reasonably estimated
as of the reporting date.
Provision for expected credit losses of accounts receivable (ECL)
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for accounts receivable, advances and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other
forms of credit insurance).
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the
matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future.
Balances due from related parties, are also excluded from ECL calculation, as credit risk is considered to be nil
based on the fact that these related companies are either directly or indirectly supported by the owners for any
liquidity or financial crisis situations.
Due to the uncertainties caused by the COVID-19, the Group’s management have revisited, reassessed and
updated the inputs and forward-looking assumptions used in the computation of expected credit losses (ECL) and
have also reviewed customer balances to identify customers with significant increase in credit risk and potential
defaulters.
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2,499,266

–
–
–
–

1,193,000,453

77,000
–
30,366,560
–

1,162,556,893

1,488,242,765

2,244,477
–
–
(1,388,981)

1,487,387,269

1,486,699,827
–
3,203,589
–
–
(2,516,147)

35,075,317

1,054,834
–
–
–

34,020,483

33,363,538
836,080
411,792
–
(237,300)
(353,627)

13,906,905

2,096,495
1,462,578
–
–

10,347,832

12,449,453
–
740,160
426,988
–
(3,268,769)

154,736,857

11,460,500
–
–
(14,694,900)

157,971,257

93,518,708
63,681,682
16,634,539
–
(15,863,672)
–

66,174,744

1,215,221
(1,462,578)
–
–

66,422,101

64,209,112
–
2,639,977
(426,988)
–
–

2,953,636,307

18,148,527
–
30,366,560
(16,083,881)

2,921,205,101

2,855,289,547
64,517,762
23,637,307
–
(16,100,972)
(6,138,543)

Total
QR.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2020

–
–
–

Depreciation for the year
Depreciation relating to disposals
Balance as at December 31, 2020

176,374,627

20,289,419
–

156,085,208

359,553,370

16,701,795
(398,634)

343,250,209

20,022,521

2,329,450
–

17,693,071

10,368,011

1,516,190
–

8,851,821

108,475,346

10,905,505
(14,455,131)

112,024,972

–

–
–

–

2,499,266

At December 31, 2019

1,006,471,685

1,016,625,826

1,144,137,060

1,128,689,395

16,327,412

15,052,796

1,496,011

3,538,894

Certain credit facilities are secured by a possessory mortgage over the plant’s machinery and equipment (Note 20 (i)).

2,499,266

At December 31, 2020

45,946,285

46,261,511

66,422,101

66,174,744

Net carrying amount:								

–

Balance as at December 31, 2019

2,283,299,820

2,278,842,432

674,793,875

51,742,359
(14,853,765)

637,905,281

Accumulated depreciation:									
Balance as at January 1, 2019
–
130,203,575
289,800,300
14,861,495
11,494,731
69,756,964
–
516,117,065
On business combinations
–
–
–
754,216
–
37,856,604
–
38,610,820
Depreciation for the year
–
25,881,633
55,088,893
2,637,903
625,831
19,981,084
–
104,215,344
Depreciation relating to disposals
–
–
–
(237,300)
–
(15,569,680)
–
(15,806,980)
Depreciation relating to write-off
–
–
(1,638,984)
(323,243)
(3,268,741)
–
–
(5,230,968)

Balance as at December 31, 2020

Additions during the year
Transfers
Transfer from investment properties (Note 7)
Disposals

2,499,266

Balance as at December 31, 2019

1,162,549,643
–
7,250
–
–
–

The Group’s management have also considered any impairment indicators and any significant and concluded that
there is no material impact due to COVID-19.

2,499,266
–
–
–
–
–

Capital work
in progress
QR.

Write-down of slow moving inventories
The management determines the estimated amount of slow moving inventories. This estimate is based on the age
of items in inventories and this provision is subject to change as a result of technical innovations and the usage
of items.
Motor and
heavy vehicles
QR.

Fair valuation of unquoted investments
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group prepares an internal valuation using appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various
assets and liabilities are disclosed in respective notes.

Cost:
Balance as at January 1, 2019
Additions through business combinations
Additions during the year
Transfers
Disposals
Write-off

Computers
and software
QR.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
4.2 Key source of estimation (continued)

Land
Buildings
Equipment
Furniture
				 and fixtures
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Depreciation charges for the year are allocated as set out below:

Cost of revenue
Selling and distribution expenses (Note 28)
General and administrative expenses (Note 29)

6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Cost:
Recognised at January 1, 2019 upon
the adoption of IFRS 16
Additions during the year
At December 31, 2019
Additions during the year
Lease cancelation

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

46,208,946
390,238
5,143,175

100,438,113
411,945
3,365,286

51,742,359

104,215,344

Land
QR.

Buildings
QR.

Total
QR.

80,311,781
1,350,948
81,662,729
1,200,281
–

1,157,467
2,903,448
4,060,915
3,495,836
(1,157,466)

81,469,248
4,254,396
85,723,644
4,696,117
(1,157,466)

At December 31, 2020
82,863,010
6,399,285
89,262,295
				
Accumulated depreciation:				
Depreciation charge for the year
7,170,110
730,449
7,900,559
At December 31, 2019
Depreciation charge for the year
Lease cancelation
At December 31, 2020

7,170,110
6,770,485
–

730,449
1,985,857
(628,330)

7,900,559
8,756,342
(628,330)

13,940,595

2,087,976

16,028,571

Net carrying amount:			
At December 31, 2020

68,922,415

4,311,309

73,233,724

At December 31, 2019

74,492,619

3,330,466

77,823,085

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

6,263,989
2,492,353

6,157,016
1,743,543

8,756,342

7,900,559

Depreciation charges for the year are allocated as set out below:

Cost of revenue
General and administrative expenses (Note 29)

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
		Investment
Investment
Properties under
properties
development
QR.
QR.

Total
QR.

Balance as at January 1, 2019
Additions
Capitalization of borrowing costs for the year

500,641,151
–
–

287,786,097
8,249,579
3,872,780

788,427,248
8,249,579
3,872,780

Net change in fair values of investment properties

(22,451,415)

(1,990,228)

(24,441,643)

Balance as at December 31, 2019

478,189,736

297,918,228

776,107,964

Additions
Transfer to property, plant and equipment
Transfer from properties under development
Net change in fair values of investment properties

–
(30,366,560)
327,271,419
(12,195,170)

29,353,191
–
(327,271,419)
–

29,353,191
(30,366,560)
–
(12,195,170)

Balance as at December 31, 2020

762,899,425

–

762,899,425

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties comprise of a number of commercial and residential properties that are or will be leased to third
parties.
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at December 31, 2020 is arrived on the basis of a valuation
carried out at the date by a qualified, external, independent property valuer certified valuator in the State of Qatar and
have appropriate recognised qualifications and experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is considered to be their
current use.
The fair value is determined as at December 31, 2020, by the independent valuer using the following valuation
approaches in accordance with the International Valuation Standards Committee:
•

Market comparable method that reflects recent transactions in the same area, taking into account the
characteristics of the property, the differences in location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size,
between the comparable property, at an average rate.

•

Replacement cost method reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace the service capacity of an
asset (current replacement cost).

Significant unobservable input(s)
Comparable rate per square meter are used for valuation, by taking into account the differences in location, and
individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the comparable and the property.
All of the properties have been valued using the market comparable approach except for certain commercial properties
which are valued using replacement cost method. A difference in the assumption of the rate per square meter of the
comparable property could result in an increase/decrease in fair value.
There has been no change to the valuation techniques adopted in the property valuation reports during the year as
compared to the previous year.
2020
2019
QR.
QR.
Rental income derived from investment properties (Note 26)
Operating expenses (Note 27)
Change in fair value

7,156,213
(9,437,058)
(12,195,170)

6,986,107
(5,007,216)
(24,441,643)

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements. Details of the
Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Residential units
Commercial property, land and others

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

99,550,000
663,349,425

101,750,135
674,357,829

762,899,425

776,107,964

All of the investment properties are considered level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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8. GOODWILL

Goodwill

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
2020
QR.

2019
QR.

312,819,226

312,819,226

The shareholders approved in their extra-ordinary general assembly meeting on April 26, 2009, the 100% acquisition of
QIG Industries L.L.C. (Previously named “Qatari Investor Company W.L.L.”). The total purchase consideration amounted
to QR. 879.0 million, which was settled by issuance of additional shares at a premium of QR. 435.73 million. This
transaction resulted in goodwill of QR. 314.46 million.
On December 31, 2020, an impairment review of the goodwill was undertaken by the Management internally, on which
the carrying value of goodwill with the anticipated recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill was allocated. The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are based on value in use, which is
calculated from cash flow projections for 5 years ending December 31, 2025 using data from management prepared
budgets. A key assumption for the value in use calculations was the discount rate represented in the Group’s weighted
average cost of capital of 14%. The Management estimates discount rates that reflect the current market assessments of
the time value of money and risks specific to the cash-generating units, and they consider the appropriate risk adjusted
discount rate is 14%. Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on an assumed compound growth rate of 3.5%, as
well as past experience and expectations of future changes in the market. The management concluded from this review
that there were no indicators of impairment of goodwill. During the year, no goodwill was impaired (2019: QR. NIL).
The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the relevant CGUs including Industrial, Marine, Contracting and
engineering and Others.
Sensitivity analysis
The Group has conducted an analysis of the sensitivity of the impairment test to changes in the key assumptions used
to determine the recoverable amount for each of the group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated. The management
believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of these CGUs
are based would not cause the carrying amounts to exceed the recoverable amounts of the related CGUs.
9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
The Group has interests in associate companies which are all incorporated in Qatar with a profit sharing percentages
varying between 20% to 50%. Despite holding more than 50% of the shareholding of these companies, based on
contractual arrangements, the Group does not have control over the financial and operating policy decisions and hence
has a significant influence only over the associate companies at December 31, 2020.
These associates are in the industry of shipping services, manufacturing and others.
The share of profit from investments in associates has been calculated based on the latest available financial
statements of those associates or where those are not available, the management accounts. The Group’s management
does not expect any material differences in the figures recorded based on management accounts when audited.
Movement in the investments in associates balance during the year is as follows:

Balance as at January 1,
Transfer to subsidiaries*
Share of profit from investments in associates
Dividends from investments in associates
Balance as at December 31,

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

43,565,758
13,235,633
(14,975,808)

56,156,761
(16,997,039)
18,113,167
(13,707,131)

41,825,583

43,565,758

* During previous year, the Group obtained control over an equity accounted investment. Accordingly, the Group has
consolidated the financial statements on obtaining control of the associate company (see Note 33).
All of the associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

Total assets

518,788,861

449,408,767

Total liabilities

370,640,322

292,305,089

Equity

148,148,539

50,186,151

Revenue

211,759,266

305,213,292

Net profit for the year

34,797,548

38,795,601

Share of profit from investments in associates

13,235,633

18,113,167

–

–

13,235,633

18,113,167

Share of other comprehensive income
Share of total comprehensive income

10. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FVTOCI
At December 31, financial asset investments in equity investments designated as FVTOCI comprised of the following:

			
Unquoted equity securities

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

8,219,235

7,205,676

Unquoted equity securities are carried at fair value are disclosed in Note 34.
These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to long-term
strategic purposes. Accordingly, the management of the Group have elected to designate these investments in equity
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in
profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes
and realising their performance potential in the long run.
The investments fair value reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of investments
in equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI, net of cumulative gain/ loss transferred to retained earnings upon
disposal.
11. CONTRACT ASSETS

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

4,711,368
(1,248,243)

2,259,178
(34)

3,463,125

2,259,144

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

Balance as at January 1,
Provision provided during the year

34
1,248,209

10
24

Balance at December 31,

1,248,243

34

Gross amounts due from customers
Provision for expected credit loss

The movement in provision for expected credit loss is as follows:

The Management of the Group measures the loss allowance on amounts due from customers at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL, taking into consideration the historical default experience and the future prospects of the industry.
As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer base.
There has not been any significant change in the gross amounts of contract assets that has affected the estimation of
the loss allowance.
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12. INVENTORIES
			
Finished goods
Semi-finished goods
Raw materials
Goods-in-transit
Spare parts
Less: Provision for inventories

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

1,084,797
214,484,604
15,669,695
72,269
54,865,896

4,316,180
412,328,308
13,271,114
225,189
49,876,327

286,177,261
(5,362,620)

480,017,118
(20,335,041)

280,814,641

459,682,077

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

20,335,041
(14,972,421)

8,592,561
11,742,480

5,362,620

20,335,041

The movement in the provision for inventories was as follows:
			
Balance as at January 1,
Net (reversal) / provision during the year
Balance at December 31,

13. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER DEBIT BALANCES
			
Accrued income
Prepayments
Refundable deposits
Due from staff
Others

15. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Related parties as defined in International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures, represent major
shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by such parties. Balances and transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are
related parties of the Group, have been eliminated on consolidation. Details of transactions between the Group and
other related parties are disclosed below.
Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.
a) Due from related parties
Relationship
2020
		
QR.
Al Misnad L.L.C.
National Aviation Services Company
Others

2019
QR.

3,347,653
8,354,241
24,485,148
1,164,400
4,832,952

7,918,341
12,698,325
27,790,110
1,374,708
165,186

42,184,394

49,946,670

270,721
200,000
1,899,820

319,943
200,000
1,985,550

2,370,541

2,505,493

b) Due to related parties

Relationship
2020
		
QR.
National Aviation Services Company
Others

2020
QR.

Common ownership
Common ownership
Common ownership

2019
QR.

Common ownership
Common ownership

2019
QR.

164,697
3,399,942

164,697
2,517,396

3,564,639

2,682,093

c) Transactions with related parties

Nature
2020
		
QR.
				
Relationship
Associate
United Gulf Cement Company W.L.L.
Sales
30,291,700

2019
QR.

2,473,243

Affiliate			
Vodafone Qatar
Rental income
1,998,180
–

14. ADVANCES TO CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS

2020
2019
QR.
QR.
d) Key management
		
		 							
Advances to contractors/ suppliers
30,183,378
42,005,163
Less: Loss allowance
(18,294,549)
(9,823,678)
11,888,829

32,181,485

Refer to Note 34 for the details on the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts.

				
Key management incentives
Board of Directors compensation

December 31,
2020
QR.

2019
QR.

9,750,000

9,000,000

1,000,000

1,550,000

The movement in lifetime ECL has been recognised for advances to contractors and suppliers that has been recognised
in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9.

Balance as at January 1,
Net increase in loss allowance
Balance as at December 31,

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

9,823,678
8,470,871

5,232,907
4,590,771

18,294,549

9,823,678
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
			
Industrial activities
Contracting activities
Marine and logistics activities
Vehicle rental activities
Less: Loss allowance

2019
QR.

229,894,304
14,964,696
26,624,997
3,840,906

269,175,662
14,941,578
36,422,937
4,203,483

Cash in hand
719,723
729,090
Bank balances:			
Current accounts
96,139,351
131,435,501
Saving accounts
17,933,882
18,666,523
Term deposits*
411,965,161
184,000,000

275,324,903
(19,765,392)

324,743,660
(21,260,693)

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash**

526,758,117
112,277,188

334,831,114
93,039,381

255,559,511

303,482,967

Cash and bank balances

639,035,305

427,870,495

No interest is charged on outstanding accounts receivable.
The Group measures the loss allowance for accounts receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit
losses on accounts receivable are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the
debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.
The Group writes off / fully provides for a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the accounts receivable is over one year past due,
whichever occurs earlier.
The following table details the risk profile of accounts receivable based on the Group’s provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer base:

Estimated total gross
carrying amount at default
Lifetime ECL

0.58%
Less than
90 Days
QR.

1.78%
91 to 180
Days
QR.

1.72%
181 to 270
Days
QR.

22.67%
271 to 365
Days
QR.

210,815,366
(1,219,675)

30,642,448
(544,423)

14,080,709
(242,049)

2,621,244
(594,109)

Total

209,595,691

30,098,025

13,838,660

2,027,135

-

0.53%
Less than
90 Days
QR.

6.28%
91 to 180
Days
QR.

7.16%
181 to 270
Days
QR.

26.90%
271 to 365
Days
QR.

100%
More than
365 days
QR.

254,391,917
(1,344,914)

30,449,235
(1,911,419)

15,819,031
(1,132,849)

9,866,511
(2,654,545)

253,047,003

28,537,816

14,686,182

7,211,966

Expected credit loss rate
December 31, 2019

Estimated total gross
carrying amount at default
Lifetime ECL

100%
More than
365 days
QR.

Total
QR.

17,165,136 275,324,903
(17,165,136) (19,765,392)
255,559,511

2019
QR.

*Short term deposits and saving accounts are placed with various local banks and earn effective profit rate ranging from
0.80% to 2.55% per annum (2019:  ranging from 0.80% to 3.8% per annum). Short term deposits have a maturity period
of 3 months or less.
**Restricted cash is mainly composed of dividends to be paid to shareholders, held at a dedicated local bank account
in addition to bank margin kept as pledged account used to secure bank guarantees and letter of credits.
Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly regulated by the Qatar
Central Bank. Accordingly, the management of the Group have assessed that there is no material impairment, and
hence have not recorded any loss allowances on these balances.
18. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital
1,243,267,780 shares of QR. 1 per share

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

1,243,267,780

1,243,267,780

Share and per share data (except par value) for the periods presented reflect the effects of this share split. References
to numbers of shares of ordinary share capital and per share data in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto have been adjusted to reflect the share split on a retrospective basis.
Proposed dividends
On February 1, 2021, the Board of Directors of the Group proposed a cash dividend distribution of 6.00% of the paid
up capital amounting to QR. 74,596,067 for the year ended December 31, 2020 which is subject to the approval of the
shareholder General Assembly Meeting.
On February 2, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Group proposed a cash dividend distribution of 5.50% of the paid
up capital amounting to QR. 68,379,728 for the year ended December 31, 2019 which is subject to the approval of the
shareholder General Assembly Meeting.

Total
QR.

14,216,966 324,743,660
(14,216,966) (21,260,693)
-

2020
QR.

As per the instruction of Qatar Financial Markets Authority, the Group approved the reduction of the par value of the
ordinary share from QR 10 to QR 1, at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on February 20, 2019. The share split has
been implemented in the previous period.

As at December 31, the aging of accounts receivable is as follows:
Expected credit loss rate
December 31, 2020

17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2020
QR.

303,482,967

19. LEGAL RESERVE
As required by Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, a minimum of 10% of
the net profit for the year should be transferred to legal reserve each year until this reserve equals 50% of the paid
up share capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except in the circumstances stipulated in the abovementioned Law. The Group has fulfilled its obligations during previous years and is not transferring any profit to legal
reserve in 2020.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for accounts receivable in accordance
with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9; all collectively assessed:
2020
2019
QR.
QR.
Balance as at January 1,
Net (reversal) / provided during the year

21,260,693
(1,495,301)

15,837,887
5,422,806

Balance as at December 31,

19,765,392

21,260,693
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20. BANK BORROWINGS

Facility I (i)
Facility II (ii)
Facility III (iii)

21. LEASE LIABILITIES

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

1,400,017,533
6,418,750
–

1,526,557,729
–
37,831,945

1,406,436,283

1,564,389,674

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

Current portion – Gross
Less: deferred charges

184,165,700
(40,516,597)

196,761,333
(72,719,068)

Current portion – Net

143,649,103

124,042,265

Non-current portion – Gross
Less: deferred charges

1,410,398,178
(147,610,998)

1,782,838,736
(342,491,327)

Non-current portion – Net

1,262,787,180

1,440,347,409

Total

1,406,436,283

1,564,389,674

(i) The Group has a syndicated term loan facility agreement with two local banks. The facility amount of USD 407.9
million is currently carrying the effective interest rate of 3.35% (2019: 4.96%) per annum. Final maturity date of
this facility is 10 years from the date of first drawdown and the repayments are to be made in 19 semi-annual
instalments of USD 25 million starting from January 2, 2020 with final settlement of the balance loan value in July
2029. The credit facilities are to be secured by a possessory pledge over the cement plant, routing of revenue
proceeds of the cement factory to the bank accounts, assign cement plant insurance, assign usage right over plant
leasehold land favoring the bank to cover the limits including the profit and corporate guarantees from Qatari
Investors Group Q.P.S.C. and a subsidiary company.
(ii) The Group is having a facility with a local bank amounting to QR. 20,000,000 to finance 75% of the cost of the
vehicles purchases. The loan bears interest rate of 4.25%. The loan amount will be repaid in 48 equal monthly
installments for each drawdown after six-month grace period.
(iii) The Group also had a facility with a local bank to finance the Group’s construction of investment properties for a
total facility amount of QR. 200 million. The scheduled last installment date of the facility is before end of 2022
with repayments made in 24 equal quarterly installments starting from the January 1, 2017. The credit facility was
subject to a profit rate of 5% per annum until January 1, 2018 and 5.5% per annum for the remaining facility tenure.
During the year, a repayment of QAR 37.8 million was made against the principal amount to settle in full the existing
facility.
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Bank borrowings

At December 31,

2019
QR.

75,635,847
–
4,696,117
(553,202)
4,496,928
(11,249,131)

–
77,315,106
4,254,396
–
4,531,611
(10,465,266)

73,026,559

75,635,847

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position:

Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position:		

Bank borrowings

At January 1,
Lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 at January, 1 2019
Additions during the year
Cancellation of leases
Interest expense on lease liabilities for the year
Payments of lease liabilities

2020
QR.

As at January 1,
2020
QR.

Financing
cash flows
QR.

Non cash
changes
QR.

As at December 31,
2020
QR.

1,564,389,674

(215,298,031)

57,335,640

1,406,436,283

As at January 1,
2019
QR.

Financing
cash flows
QR.

Non cash
changes
QR.

As at December 31,
2019
QR.

1,599,656,553

(90,800,215)

55,533,336

1,564,389,674

Current portion:			
Payable not later than 1 year
11,253,134
10,757,266
Less: deferred interest expenses
(4,141,072)
(4,291,897)
7,112,062

6,465,369

Non-current portion		
Payable later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
10,446,982
Payable later than 5 years
77,399,153
Less: deferred interest expenses
(21,931,638)

35,971,642
58,493,539
(25,294,703)

Current portion - Net

Non-current portion - Net

22. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS

Balance as at January 1,
On business combination
Charge for the year
Paid during the year
Balance as at December 31,
23. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Local suppliers / contractors
Foreign suppliers / contractors

65,914,497

69,170,478

73,026,559

75,635,847

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

8,665,154
–
2,603,478
(2,640,925)

11,966,754
380,914
2,676,851
(6,359,365)

8,627,707

8,665,154

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

16,690,532
2,263,479

25,678,899
5,450,014

18,954,011

31,128,913

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms. The
management consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.
24. NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

1,340,709

4,609,076

Notes payable mainly represent post-dated cheques for vehicles purchased.
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25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Dividends payable
Contractors and others claims
Accrued production expenses
Social and support fund contribution (Note 31)
Advances from customers
Board of Directors compensation
Consumables and spares payable
Marine and logistics services accruals
Accrued royalties
Accrued expenses and other payables

29. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2020
QR.

2019
QR.

74,844,589
796,622
52,333,734
2,113,871
7,984,826
1,000,000
2,736,799
9,087,623
5,442,650
145,537,832

55,863,972
796,622
40,856,699
3,712,926
4,260,276
1,550,000
3,529,331
9,095,861
5,787,734
87,428,454

301,878,546

212,881,875

26. REVENUE
The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services over time and at a
point in time in the following major product lines.
2020
2019
QR.
QR.
Revenue – at a point in time			
Revenue from industrial activities
621,970,410
521,838,504
Revenue – over the time			
Contracting revenue
22,453,155
16,686,811
Services revenue - maintenance and other services
2,269,094
18,038,122
Services revenue - marine and logistics services
28,463,314
49,765,034
Services revenue - vehicle rental
18,486,901
22,404,600
Lease rental income
7,156,213
6,986,107

27. COST OF REVENUE

Cost
Cost
Cost
Cost
Cost

of
of
of
of
of

industrial activities
contracting revenue
marine and logistics services
vehicle rental
lease rental income

28. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Repair and maintenance expenses
Salaries and benefits
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 5)
Selling and marketing expenses
Insurance expenses
Rent expenses
Miscellaneous expenses

700,799,087

635,719,178

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

390,830,782
11,683,039
3,234,935
10,127,329
9,437,058

263,195,272
18,305,834
4,137,133
18,580,724
5,007,216

425,313,143

309,226,179

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

365,429
1,959,932
390,238
9,068,540
45,027
55,889
783,925

374,268
2,255,299
411,945
4,689,200
50,191
201,167
116,324

12,668,980

8,098,394

Salaries and benefits
Legal and professional charges
Fee and subscriptions
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 5)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (Note 6)
Repair and maintenance
Board of Directors compensation
Rent expenses
Insurance expenses
Contribution towards COVID-19
Travel and entertainment expenses
Communication expenses
Provision for expected credit losses, net
Miscellaneous expenses

2020
QR.

2019
QR.

59,038,821
2,653,475
2,324,250
5,143,175
2,492,353
1,475,643
1,000,000
2,413,984
486,103
10,000,000
109,737
1,249,859
1,497,114
17,800,429

64,728,334
1,193,115
2,238,967
3,365,286
1,743,543
1,526,426
1,550,000
3,921,463
895,297
-383,250
1,269,869
10,062,405
1,273,570

107,684,943

94,151,525

30. INCOME TAX EXPENSES
The income tax represents the amount recognised by each subsidiary. The major components of income tax expense for
the year are as follows:
		2020
		
QR.
Current income tax (2019 and 2020)
Deferred income tax

8,559,941
(2,250,868)
6,309,073

Income tax included in the statement in profit and loss

31. SOCIAL AND SPORTS FUND CONTRIBUTION
In accordance with Law No. 13 of 2008, the Group has taken a provision for the support of sports, social, cultural and
charitable activities for an amount equivalent of 2.5% of the net profit of the Group. As per the instructions issued
during the year 2010 by the Ministry of Economy and Finance, this social contribution has been treated as distribution
from retained earnings of the Group. The provision for the year ended December 31, 2019 was paid to the General Tax
Authority at the Ministry of Finance.
32. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributed to the Group’s shareholders for
the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.
There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares. The information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per
share based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are as follows:
Net profit for the year after tax attributable to
shareholders of the Company (QR.)
Weighted average number of shares
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR.)

2020

2019

84,554,830

148,517,023

1,243,267,780

1,243,267,780

0.07

0.12

As per the instruction of Qatar Financial Markets Authority, the Group approved the reduction of the par value of the
ordinary share from QR 10 to QR 1, at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on February 20, 2019. The share split has
been implemented in the previous period.
Share and per share data (except par value) for the periods presented reflect the effects of this share split. References
to numbers of shares of common share capital and per share data in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto have been adjusted to reflect the share split on a retrospective basis.
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATION

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a) During the previous year, the Group obtained control over an entity, that was previously accounted as an
investment in associates. Control was assumed through the appointment of fully authorized managers and
thereby in accordance with the Article of Association, the ability to direct the relevant activities. Accordingly, the
Group has consolidated the financial statements of the entity with effect from January 1, 2019, in accordance with
requirements of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:
Purchase consideration

Total QR.

Cash paid (i)
Fair value of previously recognised investment in associate

–
16,997,039

Total purchase consideration

16,997,039

(i) There is no cash consideration transferred with respect to the gain of control of the above subsidiary.
The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of acquisition on the acquisition date January 1,
2019 were as follows:
		
		
Cash and cash equivalents
Property, plant and equipment
Due from related parties
Account receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Account payables
Due to related parties
Employees’ end of service benefits
Fair value of net assets acquired
Less: carrying value of previously held interest in associate
Less: non-controlling interests
		

January 1, 2019
QR.
11,578,054
25,906,942
526,984
2,991,226
858,713
(7,224,589)
(262,338)
(380,914)
33,994,078
(16,997,039)
(16,997,039)
–

Non-controlling Interests
The non-controlling interest is measured by reference to the relevant share of the carrying value of the net assets. The
profit is allocated to non-controlling interests and the accumulated non-controlling interests as at December 31, 2019 is
set out below. Summarized financial information of the subsidiary as at December 31, 2019 is also set out below:
December 31, 2019
QR.
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

19,712,427
21,819,307
(7,497,081)
(2,789)
34,031,864

Non-controlling interests

17,015,932

Revenue
Profit for the year
Profit attributable to owners of the Company
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

10,383,539
37,786
18,893
18,893

Significant accounting policies
Details of significant policies and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition for the basis of measurement
in respect of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
December 31, 2020

FVTPL
FVTOCI
Amortised
Total
Fair
			 cost		value
QR.
QR.
QR.		hierarchy
Financial Assets
Cash and bank balances (Note 17)

–

–

639,035,305 639,035,305

Level 1

Financial investment at FVTOCI (Note 10)

–

8,219,235

–

8,219,235

Level 3

Advances to contractors and suppliers (Note 14)

–

–

30,183,378

30,183,378

Level 3

Accounts receivables (Note 16)

–

–

275,324,903 275,324,903

Level 3

					
Financial Liabilities
Bank borrowings (Note 20)

–

–

Accounts payable (Note 23)

–

–

1,406,436,283 1,406,436,283
18,954,011

18,954,011

Level 2
Level 3

December 31, 2019
FVTPL
FVTOCI
Amortised
Total
Fair
			 cost		value
QR.
QR.
QR.		hierarchy
Financial Assets
Cash and bank balances (Note 17)

–

–

Financial investment at FVTOCI (Note 10)

–

7,205,676

Advances to contractors and suppliers (Note 14)

–

–

Accounts receivables (Note 16)

–

–

427,870,495 427,870,495

Level 1

–

7,205,676

Level 3

42,005,163

42,005,163

Level 3

324,743,660 324,743,660

Level 3

					
Financial Liabilities
Bank borrowings (Note 20)

–

–

Accounts payable (Note 23)

–

–

1,564,389,674 1,564,389,674
31,128,913

31,128,913

Level 2
Level 3

a) Fair value measurements
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
• The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of the business on the
reporting date.
• The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
a) Fair value measurements (continued)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

1) Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities).

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined;

Change in US Dollar rate
(QR.)

Effect on profit
(QR.)

December 31, 2020

0.025
(0.025)

9,600,000
(9,600,000)

December 31, 2019
		

0.025
(0.025)

10,455,000
(10,455,000)

		
Financial
assets/financial
liabilities

Fair value as at December 31,
2020
QR.

Investment in financial
assets (Note 10) –
unquoted
Bank borrowings
(Note 20)

Valuation
technique(s)
and key input(s)

Fair value
hierarchy

Significant
Unobservable input(s) and
its relationship to fair value

2019
QR.

8,219,235

7,205,676

Level 3

1,406,436,283

1,564,389,674

Level 2

Fair value
Amortised
method

Management’s experience
and knowledge of market
conditions of the specific
industries
Discounted cash flow
at a discount rate that
reflects the Group’s current
borrowing rate at the end of
the reporting period

Except as detailed in the following table, the management consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
2020
Carrying
amount
QR.

Fair
value
QR.

Carrying
amount
QR.

Fair
value
QR.

Level 3

275,324,903

275,324,903

324,743,660

324,743,660

Level 3

30,183,378

30,183,378

42,005,163

42,005,163

Level 2
Level 3

(1,406,436,283)
(18,954,011)

(1,406,436,283)
(18,954,011)

Fair value
hierarchy
Financial assets
Accounts receivables (Note 16)
Advances to contractors and
suppliers (Note 14)
Financial liabilities
Bank borrowings (Note 20)
Accounts payable (Note 23)

2019

(1,564,389,674) (1,564,389,674)
(31,128,913)
(31,128,913)

b) Financial risk management
The Group’s Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to financial markets, monitors
and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyse
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, profit rate risk,
and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and equity prices
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the
return. The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
profit rates and commodity prices.
Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which
sales, purchases and borrowings are denominated and the respective functional currencies of Group companies.
The functional currency of Group is the Qatari Riyal. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily
denominated are US Dollars and Euro.
Management is of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to currency risk is minimal as the Group’s significant
transactions are denominated in Qatari Riyal and the US Dollar, against which the Qatari Riyal is pegged

Profit rate risk
The Group is exposed to profit rate risk as it borrows funds at both fixed and floating profit rates. The risk is
managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix of debt and equity.
Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
Presently, the Group holds profit rate bearing loans to financial institutions that expose the Group to cash flow profit
rate risk. In case of 50 basis points increase / decrease in profit rate on December 31, 2020, with all other variables
held constant, the net assets and income of the Group for the year would change as follows:
		

Increase / (decrease)
in basis points

Effect on profit
(QR.)

December 31, 2020
Liabilities
		

50
(50)

32,100
(32,100)

December 31, 2019
Liabilities
		

50
(50)

7,821,900
(7,821,900)

Equity price risks
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from profit rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are
caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market.
The Group’s quoted equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification. Reports on the
equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s Board of Directors on a regular basis. The Board of Directors review and
approve all equity investment decisions.
A decrease of 10% in the fair values of the quoted securities would not significantly affect the profit and equity of
the Group.
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. As at December 31, 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account
any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the Group arises from:
• the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position; and
• the maximum amount the entity would have to pay if the financial guarantee is called upon, irrespective of the
likelihood of the guarantee being exercised and the related loss allowance as disclosed in Note 16.
In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the management uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:
Category

Description

Basis for recognising

Performing
		

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does
not have any past-due amounts

12-month ECL

Doubtful
		

When there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition

Lifetime ECL – not credit
impaired

In default
Write-off
		

December 31, 2020
		
		

When there is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired
There is evidence indicating that there is a severe financial
Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery		

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:
December 31, 2020		
			
		
Note

12-month or
lifetime
ECL

				
Accounts
Receivables
Contract assets
Due from related parties

Gross carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net carrying
amount

QR.

QR.

QR.

16
11
15(a)

Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL

275,324,903
4,711,368
2,370,541

(19,765,392)
(1,248,243)
–

255,559,511
3,463,125
2,370,541

December 31, 2019		
			
		
Note

12-month or
lifetime
ECL

Gross carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net carrying
amount

QR.

QR.

QR.

324,743,660
2,259,178
2,505,493

(21,260,693)
(34)
–

303,482,967
2,259,144
2,505,493

				
Accounts
Receivables
Contract assets
Due from related parties

16
11
15(a)

Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL

For accounts receivable, advances, contract assets and due from related parties, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses
on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past
due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic
conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of
the provision matrix.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group’s reputation.
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching
the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Bank borrowings
Account payables
Due to related parties
Retention payable
Accruals and other liabilities
Notes payable

December 31, 2019
		
		
Bank borrowings
Account payables
Due to related parties
Retention payable
Accruals and other liabilities
Notes payable

Carrying
Amounts
QR.

Contractual
cash flows
QR.

Less than
1 year
QR.

More than
1 year
QR.

1,406,436,283
18,954,011
3,564,639
24,168,702
299,764,675
1,340,709

1,594,563,874
18,954,011
3,564,639
24,168,702
299,764,675
1,340,709

184,165,700
18,954,011
3,564,639
24,168,702
299,764,675
1,340,709

1,410,398,174
–
–
–
–
–

1,754,229,019

1,942,356,610

531,958,436

1,410,398,174

Carrying
Amounts
QR.

Contractual
cash flows
QR.

Less than
1 year
QR.

More than
1 year
QR.

1,564,389,674
31,128,913
2,682,093
23,953,953
212,881,875
4,609,076

1,979,600,069
31,128,913
2,682,093
23,953,953
212,881,875
4,609,076

196,761,333
31,128,913
2,682,093
23,953,953
212,881,875
4,609,076

1,782,838,736
–
–
–
–
–

1,839,645,584

2,254,855,979

472,017,243

1,782,838,736

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets. The inclusion of information on
non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the
liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.
At December 31, 2020
		
		
Accounts receivable
Prepayments and other debit balances
Contract assets
Financial investments at FVTOCI
		
At December 31, 2019
		
		
Accounts receivable
Prepayments and other debit balances
Contract assets
Financial investments at FVTOCI
		

Less than
1 year
QR

More than
1 year
QR

Total
QR

275,324,903
42,184,394
3,463,125
–

–
–
–
8,219,235

275,324,903
42,184,394
3,463,125
8,219,235

320,972,422

8,219,235

329,191,657

Less than
1 year
QR

More than
1 year
QR

Total
QR

324,743,660
49,946,670
2,259,144
–

–
–
–
7,205,676

324,743,660
49,946,670
2,259,144
7,205,676

376,949,474

7,205,676

384,155,150

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
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c) Capital risk management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholders value.
The Group actively monitors and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, after fulfilling senior debt obligations, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt divided by equity.

The gearing ratio at the year-end was as follows:

Debt (i)
Cash (Note 17)
Net debt
Equity (ii)

Net debt to equity ratio

(i) Debt is defined as bank borrowings.

(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Letters of bank guarantees

Letters of credit

Secured cheques

Properties under development

		
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Later than 5 years

88
2020
QR.
2019
QR.

1,406,436,283
(639,035,305)
767,400,978
2,875,158,815
1,564,389,674
(427,870,495)
1,136,519,179
2,854,803,275

27%
40%

2020
QR.
2019
QR.

35,318,483
25,800,027

–
278,231

19,087,573
19,338,087

–
5,543,424

36. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor
As set out in Note 7 property rental income earned during the year was QR. 7,156,213 (2019: QR. 6,986,107). All operating
lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does
not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

The future lease commitments in respect of the above lease agreements are as follows:

2020
QR.
2019
QR.

11,251,485
32,902,152
39,060,374
4,757,956
2,308,680
–

83,214,011
7,066,636

Purchase, construction and let out of lands and buildings
Shipping, logistics, marine and aviation services.
General industrial activity
Supply, installation of security system
Various trading activities
Investments in agencies, sponsorship shares, vehicle rental and engineering businesses.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(29,810,951)

6,986,107

(1,212,590,245)

1,189,037,874

(27,226,465)

7,156,213

18,717,836

49,566,741

(334,110,985)

419,304,094

3,255,517

35,287,492

(366,145,918)

443,710,532

179,801,229

528,750,000

(6,283,276,998)

7,965,688,652

149,568,947

629,433,983

(6,263,164,975)

7,867,363,431

6,992,663

32,492,468

(265,737,777)

294,948,384

3,898,752

22,527,122

(285,198,644)

308,360,305

(46,189)

–

(8,528,215)

7,175,990

(67,754)

–

(8,595,326)

7,175,347

Marine		 Contracting &		
services
Industrial
Technology
Trading
QR.
QR.
QR.
QR.

*Total segment revenue does not include other revenue amounting to QR. 11,930,545 (2019: Qr. 17,403,072).

Net income

Revenue*

Total liabilities

Total assets

1,187,199,956
(1,236,101,910)

As at December 31, 2019

Net income

Revenue*

Total liabilities

Total assets

As at December 31, 2020

Real
Estate
QR.

(22,563,503)

36,660,188

(2,766,348,717)

4,792,588,876

(39,593,417)

20,668,510

(2,799,858,367)

4,956,455,527

Other
segments
QR.

153,091,085

654,455,504

(10,870,592,937)

14,668,743,870

89,835,580

715,073,320

(10,959,065,140)

14,770,265,098

Grand
Total
QR.

–

–

8,946,646,352

(9,889,994,010)

–

–

9,121,067,984

(10,057,109,127)

Elimination
QR.

153,091,085

654,455,504

(1,923,946,585)

4,778,749,860

89,835,580

715,073,320

(1,837,997,156)

4,713,155,971

Consolidated
QR.

(b) Information about reportable segments
		 Information related to each reportable segment as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 is set out below. Segment profit, as included in internal
management reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer, is used to measure performance because management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in the same industry.

The Chief Executive Officer reviews internal management reports of each division at least quarterly. Other operations include financial services, agencies, information
technology services and the holding activities. None of these segments meet the quantitative thresholds for reporting segments in 2020 or 2019.

Real estate
Marine services
Industrial
Contracting and technology
Trading
Others

The following summary describes the operations of each segment.
Reportable segment
Operations

37. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Basis for segmentation
The Group has the following seven strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These divisions offer different products and services, and are managed
separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2020

38. LEGAL CASES
As of December 31, 2020, legal cases filed against the Group are as follows:
1) Verifying Shares Ownership of a Major Shareholder Case:
Raised by Al Misnad Company LLC
2) Invalidation Cases:
Raised by Ezdan Group Holding and its subsidiaries representatives (Al Sawan Trading & Contracting, Al Eklim Real
Estate Brokerage, Al Itqan Trading, Ithmar Construction & Trading, Al Tayibin Trading, Al Manara Medical Equipment,
Ayn Jalot Company, Al Qara Trading Company, Al Ruba Alkhali Trading, Alkora Alzahabiya Company, Tariq Alkhair
Company, Arkan for Import & Export)
A.		Lawsuits related to the invalid ownership of shares by a major shareholder for shares in the company.
Lawsuits from companies owned by Ezdan Holding: Al Sawan Trading & Contracting, Arkan for Import & Export,
Tariq Al Khair Company. (All these are 100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).
B. Lawsuits related to the invalidity of Annual General Assembly Meeting Minutes held on 2015 onwards:
Plaintiffs: Al Itqan Trading, Al Iklim Real Estate Brokerage Company, Al Tayibin Trading, Al Kara Trading Company,
Al Manara Medical Equipment Company, Ruba Al Khali Trading, Al Sawan Trading and Contracting Company,
Alkora Alzahabiya Company. (All these are 100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).
C. Lawsuits related to Judicial Management of the Group:
Plaintiffs: Al Iklim Real Estate Brokerage Company (100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).
D. Lawsuits related to forced changes in Articles of Association:
Plaintiffs: Al Iklim Real Estate Brokerage Company. (Company is 100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).
Most of the lawsuits mentioned above have dismissed in favour of the Group and they are no longer outstanding,
unless appealed by the plaintiffs for prolonging the dispute. As of the reporting date, there is no impact of those
lawsuits, which are in general repetitive in nature without any reasonable basis.
During the year, Sharaf Investment, a United Arab Emirates Company raised legal cases against Qatari Investors Group
subsidiaries, challenging some management decisions in marine and logistics companies where they held a minority
shareholding. The court has rejected the claims and the plaintiff has appealed the decision. The Group management
believes that there is no risk on its financial statement that is not accounted for.

39. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The comparative figures for the prior year have been reclassified, where necessary, in order to confirm to the current
year’s presentation. Such reclassifications do not affect the previously reported equity or net assets of the Group.

40. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no significant events after the reporting date, which have a bearing on these consolidated financial
statements.

41. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on February 1, 2021.

